
BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, November 13, 2017 
Regular Meeting - 7:00 P.M. 

Union Sanitary District
Administration Building

5072 Benson Road
Union City, CA 94587

Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
 
 
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
 
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

1. Call to Order. 
 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
  

 

3. Roll Call. 
 

 

Motion 4. Approve Minutes of the Meeting of October 23, 2017. 
 

 

 5. Written Communications. 
 

 

6. Oral Communications. 
 

The public may provide oral comments at regular and special Board meetings; however, whenever possible, written statements are preferred (to be received 
at the Union Sanitary District office at least one working day prior to the meeting).  This portion of the agenda is where a member of the public may address 
and ask questions of the Board relating to any matter within the Board’s jurisdiction that is not on the agenda.  If the subject relates to an agenda item, the 
speaker should address the Board at the time the item is considered.  Oral comments are limited to three minutes per individuals, with a maximum of 30 
minutes per subject.  Speaker’s cards will be available in the Boardroom and are to be completed prior to discussion. 

 

 
 

 

Motion 7. Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Brown and Caldwell 
for the Emergency Outfall Improvements Project (to be reviewed by the Engineering 
and Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Motion 8. Authorize the General Manager to Execute an Agreement and Task Order No. 1 with 
Tanner Pacific, Inc for the Twin Force Main Relocation – Phase 1 Project (to be 
reviewed by the Engineering and Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Motion 9. Award the Construction Contract for the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project 
to Monterey Mechanical Company (to be reviewed by the Engineering and 
Information Technology Committee). 
 

 

Motion 10. Consider a Resolution to Accept the Construction of the Headworks Knife Gate Valves 
1-3 Replacement Project from D.W. Nicholson Corporation and Authorize Recordation 
of a Notice of Completion (to be reviewed by the Engineering and Information 
Technology Committee). 
 

 

Direction 11. Review and Provide Direction on USD Video and Virtual Plant Tour. 
 

 

Information 12. Board Expenses for the 1st Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018 (to be reviewed by the Budget 
& Finance Committee). 

1 of 128



 

 

Information 13. Submission of Annual Report to Union City for Fiscal Year 2017 (to be reviewed by the 
Legislative Committee). 
 

 

Information 14. Report on the East Bay Dischargers Authority (EBDA) Meeting of October 19, 2017. 
 

 

Information 15. Check Register. 
 

 

Information 16. Committee Meeting Reports. (No Board action is taken at Committee meetings):  
a. Legislative Committee, Wednesday, November 8, 2017, at 10:30 a.m. 

Director Lathi and Director Toy 
b. Engineering and Information Technology Committee – Thursday, November 9, 2017, at 9:15 a.m. 

Director Fernandez and Director Kite 
c. Budget & Finance Committee – Friday, November 10, 2017, at 11:00 a.m. 

Director Handley and Director Toy 
d. Legal/Community Affairs Committee – will not meet. 
e. Personnel Committee – will not meet. 
f. Audit Committee – will not meet. 
 

 

Information  17.  General Manager’s Report. (Information on recent issues of interest to the Board). 
 

 

 18.   Other Business: 
a. Comments and questions. Directors can share information relating to District 

business and are welcome to request information from staff. 
b. Scheduling matters for future consideration.  
 
 

 

19. Adjournment – The Board will adjourn to a Special Meeting in the Boardroom on 
Monday, December 4, 2017, at 7:00 p.m. 
 

The Public may provide oral comments at regular and special Board meetings; however, whenever possible, written statements are preferred (to be received at the Union Sanitary 
District at least one working day prior to the meeting). 
If the subject relates to an agenda item, the speaker should address the Board at the time the item is considered.  If the subject is within the Board’s jurisdiction but not on the agenda, 
the speaker will be heard at the time “Oral Communications” is calendared.  Oral comments are limited to three minutes per individual, with a maximum of 30 minutes per subject.  
Speaker’s cards will be available in the Boardroom and are to be completed prior to discussion of the agenda item. 

The facilities at the District Offices are wheelchair accessible.  Any attendee requiring special accommodations at the meeting should contact the General Manager’s office at (510) 
477-7503 at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.  THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND 

2 of 128



3 of 128



4 of 128



5 of 128



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

October 23, 2017

CALL TO ORDER

President Kite called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

PRESENT: Pat Kite, President
  Anjali Lathi, Vice President
  Manny Fernandez, Secretary
  Jennifer Toy, Director
  Tom Handley, Director

STAFF: Paul Eldredge, General Manager
  Karen Murphy, District Counsel
  James Schofield, Collection Services Manager
  Robert Simonich, Fabrication, Maintenance, and Construction Manager
  Armando Lopez, Treatment and Disposal Services Manager
  Sami Ghossain, Technical Services Manager

Laurie Brenner, Business Services Team Coach
Gene Boucher, Human Resources Manager
Michelle Powell, Communications and Intergovernmental Relations Coordinator

VISITORS: Alice Johnson, League of Women Voters
Roelle Balan, Tri-City Voice Newspaper

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF OCTOBER 9, 2017

It was moved by Director Handley, seconded by Vice President Lathi, to approve the 
Minutes of the Meeting of October 9, 2017.  Motion carried unanimously.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF OCTOBER 16, 2017

It was moved by Vice President Lathi, seconded by Director Toy, to approve the Minutes 
of the Special Meeting of October 16, 2017.  Motion carried unanimously.

SEPTEMBER 2017 MONTHLY OPERATIONS REPORT

This item was reviewed by the Legal/Community Affairs and Budget & Finance 
Committees.  General Manager Eldredge stated there were no odor complaints in

6 of 128



September 2017.  Business Services Coach Brenner provided an overview of the 
September Budget and Finance Report. The General Manager added that the District 
received a $2.06 million deposit pursuant to the Cherry Street Pump Station funding 
agreement.

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS

There were no written communications.

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

There were no oral communications.

REVIEW AND CONSIDER APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL AUDIT POLICY NO. 2020

This item was reviewed by the Audit Committee.  Business Services Coach Brenner 
stated that suggested policy revisions were due to changes in requirements by the 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and new rules from the Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) that went into effect after the date of the last review.
Staff recommended the Board review and consider approval of Financial Audit Policy    
No. 2020.

It was moved by Secretary Fernandez, seconded by Vice President Lathi, to Approve 
Financial Audit Policy No. 2020. Motion carried unanimously.

CONSIDER AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT AND PAUL ELDREDGE 

District Counsel Murphy noted that the General Manager’s performance evaluation took 
place on September 26, 2017 and October 2, 2017. District Counsel Murphy explained 
the new agreement includes an increase in salary effective September 1, 2017, and 
conforms this latest amendment and two prior amendments from September 2015 and 
November 2016 into one amended and restated agreement for ease of reference. In 
conformance with new revisions to the government code, Counsel orally stated for the 
record the previous salary of $261,697.25 and the new salary of $275,436.09. Staff 
recommended the Board Consider the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement 
Between Union Sanitary District and Paul Eldredge.

It was moved by Director Handley, seconded by Secretary Fernandez, to Approve the 
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement Between Union Sanitary District and 
Paul Eldredge.  Motion carried unanimously.

7 of 128



REVIEW AND APPROVE PROPOSED CHANGES TO POLICY NO. 3030, 
BOARDMEMBER BUSINESS AND TRAVEL EXPENSE

This item was reviewed by the Legal/Community Affairs Committee.  General Manager 
Eldredge stated that Policy 3030 was reviewed and updated last year; subsequently, the 
staff Reimbursement and Travel Policy No. 2050 was reviewed and updated to include a
change to use of a daily per diem rate for meal reimbursement, based on averages 
calculated using the Federal General Services Administration (GSA) Meals and Incidental 
Expenses (M&IE) rates for the applicable year. The proposed changes to the Board 
policy incorporate the same language from policy 2050 and updates the “tips” portion of 
the policy to be consistent with staff Reimbursement and Travel policy 2050.  Staff 
recommended the Board review and approve changes to Board Policy No. 3030, 
Boardmember Business and Travel Expense.

District Counsel noted that, after discussion at the committee meeting, staff will research 
whether state requirements or restrictions exist for elected officials regarding the amount 
they may spend on lodging while traveling on District business. Counsel stated that when 
Policy 3030 was previously reviewed it was in compliance with state law. 

It was moved by Vice President Lathi, seconded by Director Toy, to Approve Proposed 
Changes to Policy No. 3030.  Motion carried unanimously.

INFORMATION ITEMS:

Cal-Card Quarterly Activity Report
Business Services Coach Brenner presented the July through September 23, 2017
Activity Report. All questions were answered to the Board’s satisfaction.

Check Register
All questions were answered to the Board’s satisfaction.  

COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS:

The Legal/Community Affairs, Budget & Finance, and Audit Committees met.

Audit Committee – The General Manager reported out on the committee meeting and 
gave an overview of the District’s audit. He noted this was the District’s first year using 
the new auditor, as well as a first audit for many of the District’s Business Services staff.
A draft audit is anticipated to be received November 8, 2017, and final filing date is 
planned for November 27, 2017. The CAFR is anticipated to be presented to the Board
at its December 4, 2017 special meeting.

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT:
General Manager Eldredge reported the following:

 Union City’s State of the City Luncheon will be held Tuesday, October 24, 2017. 

8 of 128



A new staff report category has been developed. “Direction” will be noted to the 
left of items in this category on Board meeting agendas. 
The General Manager will provide an email update to the Board regarding the 
Business Services Manager recruitment. 
The Board will be updated on the August 2017 CASA conference at a future 
meeting. 

OTHER BUSINESS: 
Director Handley suggested that in the next two or three months, the Board should hold 
a closed session to discuss EBDA. The General Manager and District Counsel will 
discuss options regarding scheduling. 

ADJOURNMENT:

The meeting was adjourned at 7:29 p.m. to the next Regular Board Meeting in the 
Boardroom on Monday, November 13, 2017, at 7:00 p.m.

SUBMITTED:      ATTEST:

_________________________    _________________________
MICHELLE POWELL     MANNY FERNANDEZ
COMMUNICATIONS & INTERGOVERNMENTAL SECRETARY
RELATIONS COORDINATOR

APPROVED:

_________________________
PAT KITE
PRESIDENT

Adopted this 13th day of November 2017

9 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

DATE: November 6, 2017 
 
MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 
 
FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Manager of Technical Services 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Coach 
 Andrew Baile, Assistant Engineer 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 7 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
 Authorize the General Manager to Execute Task Order No. 2 with Brown and 

Caldwell for the Emergency Outfall Improvements Project 
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $225,812 for the design of the Emergency Outfall 
Improvements Project.  
 
Funds for the Project are budgeted in the Renewal and Replacement Fund. 
 
Background 
 
The District’s Alvarado Effluent Pump Station (AEPS) normally pumps the final effluent from the 
Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) to the EDBA system where the combined effluent 
from the EBDA agencies is dechlorinated and discharged from the EBDA Common Outfall to 
Lower San Francisco Bay.  The District has an NPDES permit to discharge final effluent to Old 
Alameda Creek during wet weather and when the capacity of the EBDA system is maximized.  
Final effluent is conveyed from the AEPS to the south channel of Old Alameda Creek, located 
west of the WWTP, through the Emergency Outfall pipeline that varies in diameter between 30 
and 60 inches.  A system of valves and piping located at the WWTP control the flow through the 
Emergency Outfall flap gate and into the creek.  The District doses calcium thiosulfate to 

10 of 128



Board Item No. 7 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 
dechlorinate the final effluent prior to discharging to the creek.  Figures 1 shows a site plan of 
the WWTP final effluent system. 
 
The creek is influenced by the tidal cycle; the Emergency Outfall flap gate is submerged below 
water during high tides and is exposed during low tides (Figure 2).  This presents a maintenance 
issue as the water brings in sediment that routinely buries the flap gate and promotes vegetation 
growth, which then impedes the operation of the flap gate.  The District currently inspects the 
flap gate every month and schedules staff to clear the sediment and vegetation growth when 
necessary.  Figures 3 and 4 show the buildup of sediment and vegetation growth prior to the flap 
gate maintenance. 
 
The purpose of this Project is to make improvements to the Emergency Outfall to reduce the 
maintenance activities associated with the Emergency Outfall flap gate and increase the 
reliability of the Emergency Outfall operation during wet weather events.
 
Task Order No. 1 – Preliminary Design Services 
 
In September 2016, staff prepared a Request for Proposal to provide engineering design services 
for the Project and issued it to Brown and Caldwell (B&C), Carollo Engineers, Water Works 
Engineers, West Yost Associates, and Woodard & Curran.  Staff received proposals from B&C and 
West Yost Associates.  The other consultants did not submit proposals due to the unavailability 
of personnel.  Staff reviewed the two proposals and selected B&C due to their project approach 
and past design experience with similar facilities. 
 
On March 2, 2017, staff executed an agreement and Task Order No. 1 with B&C in the amount of 
$91,363 to conduct predesign services for the Project.  The predesign services included an initial 
screening of alternative improvements to the outfall, conceptual-level cost estimates, hydraulic 
analyses, evaluation of potential permitting requirements, and drawings that show the plan and 
profile of the alternative improvements.  The preliminary construction estimate based on the 
conceptual-level design is approximately $805,000. 
 
Task Order No. 2 – Final Design Services 
 
The final design will include the following features: 
 

A vertical offset in the existing pipe on the channel side of the levee to raise the outfall 
discharge elevation 
Possible rehabilitation of the existing CMP portion of the pipe 
A parallel redundant outfall pipeline extending from the outlet structure to approximately 
10 feet inside the treatment plant site 
A concrete outlet structure with wingwalls and headwall and flap gates for isolation of 
the pipelines from tidal waters 

11 of 128



Board Item No. 7 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 3 
 
 

Slope erosion protection below outlet structure 
Means for draining the existing emergency outfall pipeline consisting of either a 
connection to existing plant drain facilities or provision of a manway to serve as a sump 
pump insertion point 
Abandonment of existing CMP portion of emergency outfall 
Restoration of levee to match existing conditions. 

The scope of services and fees of Task Order No. 2 are summarized below: 
 

Task Task Description Amount 

1 

Project Management – Maintain 
project budget and schedule, 

coordination with subconsultants 
and District, and prepare monthly 

invoices and reports 

$8,220 

2 

Surveying – Conduct field surveys 
and prepare legal descriptions and 

plats for one temporary construction 
easement and one permanent 

easement for the emergency outfall 
facilities 

$14,818 

3 

CEQA Compliance – Prepare an Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative 
Declaration to assess potential 

environmental impacts 

$19,781 

4 

Geotechnical Investigation – Drill two 
soil borings, analyze soil type, 

analyze for potential contaminants, 
and recommend excavation, shoring, 

and backfill requirements 

$56,361 

5 
Final Design – Preparation of 50, 90, 

and 100 percent construction bid 
documents 

$112,148 

6 

Pipe Rehabilitation – Design the 
rehabilitation of the outfall pipeline 

section that was constructed of 
corrugated metal pipe 

$5,923 

7 
Bid Period Services -Attend pre-bid 
conference, prepare addenda, and 
respond to questions from bidders 

$8,561 

 Total $225,812 
 

12 of 128



Board Item No. 7 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 4 
 
 
Brown and Caldwell initially submitted a cost proposal for Task Order No. 2 with a not-to-exceed 
fee of $254,915 and staff negotiated the fee to $225,812.  The not-to-exceed fee of $225,812 is 
28% of the preliminary construction estimate of $805,000.  The fee percentage rate is high, but 
is not unusual for projects that include geotechnical, environmental, and permitting efforts.  For 
example, the Force Main Access Improvements Project that was constructed in 2009 had a 49% 
total design-to-construction rate that included both the predesign and final design phase effort. 
 
The $225,812 fee includes a budget of about $92,000, or 40% for three subconsultants to perform 
the site surveys, environmental and permitting services, and geotechnical investigation services.  
This level of effort is required due to the location of the outfall pipeline in Alameda County and 
Flood Control and Water Conservation District’s (ACFC&WCD) jurisdiction, the unknown type of 
soil near the creek and levee road, the need to acquire new pipeline and temporary construction 
easements, and the proximity of the Project to potentially environmentally-sensitive receptors.  
Due to the complexity of the Project, and the need to comply with the requirements and 
standards of both the District and ACFC&WCD, staff believes the design and total not-to-exceed 
fees to be reasonable. 
 
The task order amounts for the Project’s agreement with B&C are summarized in the table below: 
 

TASK 
ORDER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

1 Preliminary Design Services $91,363 
2 Final Design Services $225,812 

 Total $317,175 
 
Staff anticipates the design to be complete by Fall 2018 assuming a 180-day period for completing 
the permit process.  However, the design completion could be delayed if the permit agencies 
take longer to process the permits and the permit conditions issued to the District require 
additional design considerations. 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute Task Order No. 2 with 
Brown and Caldwell in the amount of $225,812 for the design of the Emergency Outfall 
Improvements Project. 
 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/AB:ks 
 
 
Attachments: Figures 1 and 2 – Site Plans 
 Figures 3 and 4 – Existing Outfall Flap Gate and Access Ramp Photos 
 Figure 5 – Vertical Offset of New Outfall Pipeline Schematic 
 Figures 6 and 7 – ACFC & WCD Outlet Structure Photos 

Task Order No. 2 

13 of 128



Covered Storage Building

Field Operations Building

Primary Digester #6

Alvarado Effluent Pump Station

Final Effluent Valve Box

60 inch Final Effluent Pipeline to EBDA

Emergency Outfall Flap Gate
Veasy Street

Aboveground Emergency Outfall
Pipeline and Control Valves

30 inch to 60 inch Emergency Outfall

14 of 128

Figure 1: Site Plan

EBDA (Alvarado Effluent) Pump Station including pipelines to EBDA and the Emergency Outfall.



High Tide

Flap Gate

Low Tide

Flap Gate

Covered Storage Building

15 of 128

Figure 2: Emergency Outfall Improvements Site Location

Inset pictures show emergency outfall flap gate under current high and low tide conditions. Both photographs taken September 13, 2016.



Low Tide 2017

Flap Gate

Flap Gate

Low Tide 2016

16 of 128

Figure 3: Existing Outfall Flap Gate

The 2016 photograph was taken after maintenance had been performed, which included exercising of the flap gate and clearing of
surrounding sediment. The 2017 photograph shows the current condition of the flap gate.



20172016

17 of 128

Figure 4: Access Ramp

Emergency Outfall Maintenance Ramp: Excavation spoils on side of ramp exhibiting vegetation growth.



18 of 128

Figure 5: Vertical Offset of New Pipe

Schematic of selected design from the preliminary design phase.



19 of 128

Figure 6: Existing ACFC&WCD Pump Station Outlet

Structure consists of concrete headwall, wingwalls and apron.



20 of 128

Figure 7: Existing ACFC&WCD Pump Station Outlet

The pump station discharges through flap gates in the headwall.



EMERGENCY OUTFALL IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

TASK ORDER NO. 2 

to

AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

AND

BROWN AND CALDWELL

FOR

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Dated March 2, 2017 

1. PURPOSE

The emergency outfall discharges treated effluent into Old Alameda Creek.  
The flap gate at the end of the outfall pipe routinely becomes buried by 
sediment in the creek.  This project will design improvements to the outfall 
to reduce maintenance requirements and increase the reliability of the 
outfall. The project also includes design of approximately 100 feet of 
redundant pipeline parallel to the existing emergency outfall.

The purpose of Task Order No. 2 is to provide professional engineering 
design and bid period services for the Emergency Outfall Improvements
Project (Project). The Project will involve detailed design of improvements
identified in the preliminary design conducted under Task Order No. 1,
geotechnical investigation, property line adjustment and easement 
acquisition surveying support, CEQA compliance, and bid-period services.
Construction period services are not included.

21 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 2 

2. PROJECT COORDINATION

All work related to this task order shall be coordinated through the District’s 
Project Manager, Andrew Baile. 

3. SCOPE OF SERVICES

The task numbers in this Scope of Services are associated with the cost 
data presented in Exhibit A.

Task 1: Project Management  

The Engineer shall develop and maintain a project management plan, maintain 
project budget and schedule, coordinate with subconsultants and District, conduct 
internal project meetings, and prepare monthly invoices and project status reports.

Assumptions:
Detailed design and bid period activities shall be completed within 10
months of Notice to Proceed.

Deliverables:
Monthly Invoices and Project Status Reports

Task 2: Surveying

The District intends to adjust the wastewater treatment plant property line, as well 
as acquire temporary and permanent easements for the emergency outfall 
facilities.

Kier & Wright, as a subconsultant to the Engineer, shall assist the District with 
filling out the Lot Line Adjustment Application and prepare the Plat & Legal 
Descriptions for the adjusted parcels and existing parcels for the Certificate of 
Compliance to be recorded by the District’s Title Company.  The District will be 
provided a Legal Description and Plat to be included within the Grant Deed 
prepared and recorded by the District’s Title Company.  This work will be based 
on the Title Reports for each affected parcel affected provided by the District, and 
revised property line identified by the District. 

Kier & Wright, as a subconsultant to the Engineer, shall prepare legal descriptions 
and accompanying plats for one temporary easement and one permanent 
easement for the emergency outfall facilities.

22 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 3 

Assumptions:
District will initiate contact with Alameda County Flood Control & Water 
Conservation District and actively participate in lot line and easement 
acquisition discussions.
No legal or real-estate services, including appraisals, are included for 
negotiating lot line adjustment or easement acquisitions.
Costs for Agency fees for the Lot Line Adjustment Application, Grant Deed 
preparation and Title Reports for each parcel affected are the responsibility 
of the District.
No survey field work is included unless specifically identified.  Additional 
survey services can be provided for an additional fee if there is need for 
survey fieldwork or filing of a record of survey.

Deliverables:
Plat and legal descriptions for adjusted and existing parcels for lot line 
adjustment
Plat and legal description for one temporary easement
Plat and legal description for one permanent easement

Task 3: CEQA Compliance

An Initial Study / Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) will be prepared by 
Scheidegger & Associates with support from WRA, Inc., as a subconsultant to the 
Engineer. The IS/MND will include preparation of a draft IS for District review, a 
final IS/MND for public and agency review, and response to comments received.  
Because of the project location, the IS/MND will consider all issues on the CEQA 
checklist, but will be focused on those issues deemed to be applicable to the 
project with biological issues receiving the emphasis. A records search for cultural 
resources will be completed by the Northwest Information Center.  Selected 
information from WRA's Biological Resource Assessment will be included in the 
text of the IS while the full Biological Resource Assessment report will be 
appended.

Assumptions:
Attendance of a District Board meeting will not be required.
IS/MND filing fees to be paid by District.

Deliverables: 
Draft Initial Study, electronic copy
Final Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration, 25 hard copies
Written Response to Comments
Additional Correspondence as Required

23 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 4 

Task 4: Geotechnical Investigation  

Fugro, Inc., as a subconsultant to the Engineer, shall conduct a geotechnical 
investigation at the emergency outfall in Old Alameda Creek to determine the 
characteristics of soils in the area of improvements.  Potential mitigation measures 
will be incorporated into the design of improvements based on the outcome of the 
geotechnical investigation.  

The geotechnical investigation will include a geotechnical review of available soil 
and geologic data, the drilling of two (2) exploratory borings through the levee near 
the outfall to determine the subsurface soil conditions in the levee, limited 
environmental testing of soils, and the preparation of a geotechnical investigation 
report.  The following activities will be performed as part of this task:

Review geotechnical and geologic site conditions based on the subsurface 
data from previous work near the site, existing geologic and seismic hazard 
maps, and other generally available related materials.
Perform site reconnaissance to observe the existing site conditions from a 
geotechnical and geologic viewpoint.
Perform two exploratory borings, one to a depth of 50 feet deep and the 
second to approximately 30 feet deep, and present the results in the 
geotechnical report. The soil cuttings shall be placed in drums and 
disposed of offsite.  The cost of offsite disposal is included with this work.  
Collect up to eight (8) soil samples for testing from the upper 20 feet of the 
exploratory borings (4 each) proposed at the site.  The purpose of the 
testing is to preliminarily evaluate onsite soils for the presence of 
contaminants.  Please note that the groundwater is not being sampled or 
tested and the soil testing proposed herein would not be sufficient to profile 
the soil for waste disposal acceptance or an unrestricted reuse scenario.
Soil samples will be tested for the following: 

o Total petroleum hydrocarbons as gasoline (TPHg) using EPA 
Method 8015m/8021

o Total petroleum hydrocarbons as diesel and motor oil (TPHd and 
TPHmo) using EPA Method 8015m with silica gel cleanup

o Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) using EPA Method 8260
o Semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) using EPA Method 8270 

SIM
o 17 Title 22 metals using EPA Methods 6020
o Organochlorine Pesticides using EPA Method 8081
o Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs) using EPA Method 8082, and/or 

Asbestos using CARB 435 Method with 400-point count
Identify the geotechnical and geologic conditions (e.g., soil, groundwater, 
fill thickness, potential for compressible soils, and geologic hazards such as 
surface fault rupture, seismic shaking and liquefaction) that could impact 
the outfall improvements project. 

24 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 5 

Make recommendations for:
o Site preparation, earthwork and pipeline subgrades
o Buried pipe
o Excavation of levee and repair in accordance with the U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers recommendations
o Corrosion and expansion characteristics of on-site soils
o Erosion control on the levee slope

Prepare a geotechnical report for the project summarizing the findings.  This 
report will also include a summary of the environmental test results.

Assumptions:
Borings will be located adjacent to the emergency outfall pipeline on the top 
of the levee or within the plant fence, and therefore, the site will be 
accessible by truck mounted drilling rig. 

 Drums containing drill spoils and fluid will remain onsite following drilling 
while testing and disposal are arranged.  An additional fee will be required 
if cuttings are found to contain hazardous materials requiring special 
disposal.
Drilling is assumed to be completed in one (1) day based on normal working 
hours. 

Deliverables:
Draft Geotechnical Report

 Final Geotechnical Report

Task 5: Final Design

The Engineer shall develop contract documents and cost estimates for the project.
The Engineer shall submit 7 sets of plans and specifications to the District for 
review at the 50, 90, and 100 percent completion levels.  Specification submittal at 
the 50 percent level will include only a list of the anticipated specifications. Review 
meetings/workshops will be conducted at the 50 and 90 percent completion levels.  
Comments will be addressed in writing.  The following activities will be performed 
as part of this task:

Drawings – Drawings will be prepared using AutoCAD conforming to District 
digital submittal guidelines.  The drawings will be prepared using the 
topographic survey conducted for the project in Task Order No. 1, 
commercially available aerial photography, and available record drawings 
provided by the District.
Specifications – Specifications will be prepared in Microsoft Word format.  
BC will prepare technical specifications and make revisions as appropriate 
to the front-end specifications for the project in CSI format and based on 

25 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 6 

District Standards.  District will provide the District’s front end specifications 
(Divisions 0 and 1) in Microsoft Word Format.
Cost Estimate – Opinions of probable construction cost will be developed 
at the 50 and 90 percent completion levels.

The design will include the following:

A vertical offset in the existing pipe on the channel side of the levee to raise 
the outfall discharge elevation
Possible rehabilitation of the existing CMP portion of the pipe
A parallel redundant outfall pipeline extending from the outlet structure to 
approximately 10 feet inside the treatment plant site
A concrete outlet structure with wingwalls and headwall and flap gates for 
isolation of the pipelines from tidal waters
Slope erosion protection below outlet structure
Means for draining the existing emergency outfall pipeline consisting of 
either a connection to existing plant drain facilities or provision of a manway 
to serve as a sump pump insertion point
Abandonment of existing CMP portion of emergency outfall
Restoration of levee to match existing conditions

Assumptions:
The design shall conform to the applicable portions of the District’s design 
standards.  The Engineer shall notify the District of any deviations prior to 
implementation of the design elements. The District shall provide a copy of 
the design standards to the Engineer.
Cofferdams for isolation of the work site will be the responsibility of the 
Contractor and their design will not be included
Rehabilitation design of existing emergency outfall pipeline through the 
levee is not included
Up to two site visits will be conducted during the design
The District will provide one set of consolidated review comments on the 
Draft Design submittals.
Opinions of probable construction cost will be developed in accordance with 
the American Association of Cost Engineers at the level of detail 
corresponding to the current completion level. 
Traffic control drawings will not be required.
Sediment transport or HEC-RAS modeling of Old Alameda Creek is not 
included. 
The existing effluent pumping system will not be modified.
The Engineer shall provide an updated system curve between the surge 
tower and the improved outfall for both low and high tide, assuming all flow 
is going to the outfall.
Project meetings are anticipated to last two hours.

26 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 7 

Cathodic protection design is not included.
Design activities will be suspended after the 50 percent completion level 
until the CEQA process is completed and all permitting conditions are 
known in order to allow any requirements to be incorporated into the 90 
percent completion level design.
Only minor comments of a typographical and editorial nature are anticipated 
on the 100 percent design submittal. Changes to design approach or the 
addition or subtraction of work items at after the 100 percent design 
submittal may require additional budget.

Deliverables:
Draft plans and specifications at the 50, 90, and 100 percent completion 
levels, 7 sets each

 Opinion of probable construction cost at the 50 and 90 percent completion 
levels
Meeting minutes from the 50 and 90 percent review meetings/workshops
Final plans and specifications will be provided in electronic format for bid 
advertisement and distribution. 

Task 6: Pipeline Rehabilitation

This task includes rehabilitation design for the existing portion of the emergency 
outfall pipeline from the improved outfall to approximately 10 feet inside the plant 
fence.

Assumptions:

Internal pipeline inspection is not included in this task and is anticipated to 
occur when the outfall pipeline is dewatered during construction of the 
outfall improvements.
Rehabilitation design of one pipeline rehabilitation technology shall be 
incorporated into the Bid Documents included in Task 5 and can be included 
as a revocable bid item.

Deliverables:
One specification for pipeline rehabilitation incorporated into the project 
specifications. 
Incorporation of pipeline rehabilitation design into the plan sheets included 
in Task 5.

27 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 8 

Task 7: Bid Period Services

This task assumes that District will be responsible for bid advertising, contract 
document distribution, and review of bids. The Engineer will address bidder 
technical questions regarding the design during the bidding process.  Bidder 
questions will be submitted to the District and the District will send to the Engineer
questions for consideration.  Responses to questions will be conveyed via 
addendum. Because the effort required to respond to bidder's questions is beyond 
Engineers’ control, additional effort may be required for this task.  Engineer will not 
exceed the task budget without prior written approval.

Assumptions:

Pre-bid Conference. The District will prepare the agenda for the pre-bid 
conference.  The Engineer shall attend one pre-bid conference and one site 
tour and provide a brief description of the project requirements.  
Bid Period Support. This task includes preparation of one addendum (if 
necessary).  The addendum will be provided to the District in electronic 
format for the District to distribute. 
Conformed Documents.  The Engineer shall incorporate the addendum
items into the specific drawing and specification sections of the Bid 
Documents. The Engineer shall prepare the Conformed Documents with 
addendum information prior to contractor’s “Notice to Proceed.” The 
Engineer assumes a single update after all addendum additions.
Estimated effort is budgeted at 52 hours.

Deliverables:
One addendum in electronic format (PDF)
Conformed Documents in electronic format (PDF)

4. DELIVERABLES

The deliverables under each task of Task Order No. 2 are summarized 
below:

Task 1:  
Monthly Invoices and Project Status Reports
Meeting Minutes from Kickoff Meeting

28 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 9 

Task 2:  
Plat and legal descriptions for adjusted and existing 
parcels for lot line adjustment
Plat and legal description for one temporary easement
Plat and legal description for one permanent easement

Task 3:  
Draft Initial Study, electronic copy
Final Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration, 25 
hard copies
Written Response to Comments
Additional Correspondence as Required

Task 4:  
Draft Geotechnical Report
Final Geotechnical Report

Task 5:  
Draft plans and specifications at the 50, 90, and 100 
percent completion levels, 7 sets each
Opinion of probable construction cost at the 50 and 90 
percent completion levels
Meeting minutes from the 50 and 90 percent review 
meetings/workshops
Final plans and specifications, in electronic format for 
bid advertisement and distribution.  

Task 6:  
One pipeline rehabilitation specification
Pipeline rehabilitation incorporated into project plans

Task 7:  
One addendum in electronic format (PDF)
Conformed Documents in electronic format (PDF)

5. NOT USED

6. NOT USED

29 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 10

7. PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER

Payment to the Engineer shall be as called for in Article 2 of the Agreement.  
The Multiplier for this work shall be 3.22, the profit shall be 13 percent, and 
the not-to-exceed amount shall be $225,812. A summary of the anticipated 
distribution of cost and manpower between tasks is shown in Exhibit A. 

The following table summarizes the previously-executed and proposed task 
orders and amendments under the Agreement:

Task Order / 
Amendment

Not to 
Exceed
Amount

Board 
Authorization 

Required?
District Staff 

Approval

Task Order No. 1 –
Predesign Services $91,363 No Paul Eldredge

Task Order No. 2 –
Design Services $225,812 Yes Paul Eldredge

Total $317,175 

8. TIME OF COMPLETION

All work defined in this Task Order shall be complete in 300 calendar days 
after the execution of this Task Order and subject to the conditions of Article 
3 of this Agreement. The anticipated milestone dates are as follows:

Deliverable/Workshop Anticipated Date
CEQA Compliance 4 months after Notice to Proceed
Geotechnical Investigation 2 months after Notice to Proceed 
Survey 6 months after Notice to Proceed
50% Design Submittal 3 months after Notice to Proceed
90% Design Submittal 2 months after 50% comments 

received and 1 month after draft 
permits received

100% Design Submittal 4 Weeks after 90% comments 
received

Final Plans and specifications 2 Weeks after 100% comments 
received

30 of 128



Emergency Outfall Improvements Project
Task Order No. 2 
Page 11

9. KEY PERSONNEL

Key engineering personnel assigned to this Task Order No. 2 are as follows:

Role Key Person to be Assigned

Principal-in-Charge Grace Chow
Project Manager / Engineer Colin Dudley
Permitting Support Paul Scheidegger
Geotechnical Support Fugro
Survey Kier & Wright

Key personnel shall not be changed except in accordance with Article 8 of 
the Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Task 
Order No. 2 as of November ___, 2017 and therewith incorporate it as part of the 
Agreement. 

DISTRICT ENGINEER

Union Sanitary District Brown and Caldwell

By: ________________________  By:    
Paul R. Eldredge, P.E.  Grace Chow, P.E.
General Manager/District Engineer Vice President

Date: Date:   

31 of 128



Union Sanitary District (CA) -- Emergency Outfall Final Design

D
ud

le
y,

C
ol

in
 O

R
ou

ha
ni

,
S

ho
uh

re
h 

B
el

lo
w

s,
P

et
er

 H

F
og

ed
,

N
at

ha
n 

H

C
lo

yd
,

D
el

an
ey

W
ilk

in
s,

E
ric

 J

D
um

m
er

,
C

at
he

rin
e 

A

M
cN

am
er

,
D

an
na

 E

C
ar

do
so

,
K

ev
in

 S

O
th

er
 T

ra
ve

l

Phase Phase Description PM
 Project

Assistant 

 Tech. 
Advisor
QA/QC 

 Engineer 
(Scour/ 
Erosion) 

 Staff
Engineer 

Structural 
Engineer Estimator

 Word 
Processing  Drafting 

Total Labor 
Hours

Total Labor 
Effort APC Total ODCs Cost Cost Cost

Total Sub 
Cost

Total Expense 
Cost

Total Expense 
Effort Total Effort

001 Project Management 20 20 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 47 7,853 368 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 368 8,220
Leave Blank and Protected

002 Surveying 4 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 12 1,597 96 0 0 0 0 12,500 12,500 12,500 13,221 14,818
Leave Blank and Protected

003 CEQA Compliance 4 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 7 23 3,196 184 0 0 15,620 0 0 15,620 15,620 16,585 19,781
Leave Blank and Protected

004 Geotechnical Investigation 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 574 32 0 0 0 53,100 0 53,100 53,100 55,787 56,361
Leave Blank and Protected

005 Final Design 130 0 38 24 140 80 32 28 167 639 106,886 5,112 150 150 0 0 0 0 150 5,262 112,148
Leave Blank and Protected

006 Pipe Rehabilitation 16 0 2 0 20 0 0 0 0 38 5,619 304 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 304 5,923
Leave Blank and Protected

007 Bid Period Services 16 0 4 0 16 0 0 0 13 49 8,119 392 50 50 0 0 0 0 50 442 8,561
Leave Blank and Protected

GRAND TOTAL 192 20 51 24 198 80 32 28 187 812 133,845 6,488 200 200 15,620 53,100 12,500 81,220 81,420 91,969 225,812
Labor Multiplier: 3.2205
5 percent markup on Subconsultants
$8/hr Associated Project Costs
Labor rates for 2018 will include a 3% escalation over 2017 labor rates.  Escalation is included in the total labor effort above

Scheidegger 
Associates Fugro

Kier & 
Wright

32 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

DATE: November 6, 2017 
 
MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 
 
FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Manager of Technical Services 
 Rollie Arbolante, Customer Service Team Coach  
  
SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 8 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
 Authorize the General Manager to Execute an Agreement and Task Order No. 

1 with Tanner Pacific, Inc. for the Twin Force Main Relocation – Phase 1 
Project  

  
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute an Agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Tanner Pacific, Inc. in the amount of $290,000 to provide construction 
management and inspection services for the Twin Force Main Relocation – Phase 1 Project.  
This project is funded by the developer, William Lyon Homes. 
 
Background 
 
Development Background 
In September 2011, the City of Newark approved the Dumbarton Transit-Oriented 
Development Specific Plan. The plan includes the construction of up to 2,500 residential units, 
a neighborhood retail center, future transit station, and necessary infrastructure to support 
these uses. William Lyon Homes (WLH) is the developer proposing to begin construction of 553 
residential units for a portion of the development known as the Torian property.  
 
The District owns and operates twin 33-inch diameter reinforced concrete force mains that 
convey wastewater flows from the Irvington Pump Station to the Alvarado Treatment Plant in 
Union City. The force mains traverse the development from south to north where it crosses an 
Alameda County Flood Control channel. The force mains continue within an easement on a 
proposed wetlands parcel and within the Hickory Street right-of-way, then within an easement 

33 of 128



Agenda Item No. 8 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 2 

over two private properties, and finally across the City and County of San Francisco (CCSF) 
right-of-way and the San Mateo County Transit right-of-way before connecting to the Newark 
Pump Station. 
 
Part of the Torian property development involves creation of a wetland preserve at the 
southwestern corner of the property to partially mitigate wetlands fill over areas. A portion of 
the USD force main runs beneath the proposed Wetland Reserve, and, as part of William Lyon 
Home’s permitting for the Torian Project, the Regional Water Quality Control Board’s 401 
permit condition requires the developer to obtain authorization from the District Board.  
 
Force main Relocation and Agreement 
District staff required WLH to submit a feasibility report to investigate the impacts of the 
development on the existing force mains.  The feasibility report was extensively reviewed, and 
a presentation was provided at a special Board workshop held March 9, 2015, with a        
follow-up staff report and resolution that was approved by the Board at the Board Meeting of 
April 13, 2015.  Subsequently, the Board approved Resolution No. 2819, authorizing execution 
of a pipeline relocation agreement with WLH on October 16, 2017. 
 
In addition to defining the phasing and the scope of work, the agreement, among other things, 
included the following: 
 

Construction Management selection and cost responsibility (USD selection; WLH cost) 
Construction work plan detailing protection of the existing force mains during construction 
Limits of the force main relocation, phasing of the work 
Demolition of the old Newark Treatment Plant as part of Phase I, at no cost to the District 
Details for a concrete cap, as an interim measure, to allow the construction of Hickory 
Street to take place while existing force mains are in operation 

 
Construction will include the relocation of a portion of the District’s twin force mains (see 
attached location map) as well as the construction of a concrete cap, to allow the construction 
of Hickory Street by William Lyon Homes, and the demolition of the old Newark Treatment 
Plant.  Plans for both projects are nearing District approval. 
 
Construction Management and Inspection Services – Agreement and Task Order No. 1 
 
In September 2017, staff prepared a Request for Qualifications/Proposal to provide 
construction management services for the Project and issued it to Anchor CM, Harris and 
Associates, and Tanner Pacific, Inc.  Brown and Caldwell, Covello, and Jacobs Engineering 
indicated they will not submit proposals due to the unavailability of personnel.  Staff received 
proposals from the first three firms and selected Tanner Pacific, Inc., due to their project 
approach and past design experience with similar facilities. 
 

34 of 128



Agenda Item No. 8 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 3 

The purpose of the Agreement and Task Order No. 1 is to authorize construction management 
and inspection services to Tanner Pacific, Inc. for three elements of the project: 
 

1) Hickory Street Sanitary Sewer Force Main Concrete Cap, 
2) The Twin Force Main Relocation – Phase 1, and 
3) Demolition of the old Newark Treatment Plant.    

 
The total negotiated cost for the proposed services is $290,000 which represents 4.2% of the 
total estimated construction cost for all three elements of the project.  In accordance with the 
Pipeline Relocation Agreement, WLH is ultimately responsible for the cost of construction 
management and will reimburse the District for the costs incurred under this task order.   
 
The scope of work under Task Order No. 1 includes construction administration; facilitation of 
project meetings; processing of construction documents between the contractor, the design 
consultant, and the District; field quality control; coordination of field testing; and, project 
closeout inspection and paperwork.   

 
The task order amount for the Project’s agreement with Tanner Pacific, Inc. is summarized in 
the table below: 
 

TASK 
ORDER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

1 Construction Management Services – Phase 1 $290,000 
   

 Total $290,000 
 
Staff anticipates the construction to be complete by Spring 2018 assuming a 180-day period for 
construction.  Staff has reviewed the scope of work and deems it appropriate for the project.  
Staff recommends the Board authorize the General Manager to execute an Agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Tanner Pacific, Inc. in the amount of $290,000 to provide construction 
management and inspection services for the Twin Force Main Relocation – Phase 1 Project.   
 
 
PRE/SEG/RA:ks 
 
 
Attachments: Location Map 

Task Order No. 1 including exhibits 
Agreement 

35 of 128



CITY OF NEWARK,  ALAMEDA  COUNTY,  CALIFORNIA

BY APP DATEREVISIONSNO.
BAR IS ONE INCH
AT FULL SCALE

IF NOT ONE INCH
ON THIS SHEET

SCALE ACCORDINGLY

0 1"

     OF       SHEETS

SHEET NUMBER

DRAWING NUMBER

SCALE
PHASING  EXHIBIT

8 of 4836 of 128

Limits of Concrete Cap



Page 1 of 3 

TWIN FORCE MAIN RELOCATION PROJECT

TASK ORDER NO. 1 
TO

AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT
AND

TANNER PACIFIC, INC.
FOR

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
DATED NOVEMBER ___, 2017

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this Task Order No. 1 is to provide construction management and 
inspection services by Tanner Pacific, Inc., hereinafter referred to as “Engineer”, 
for the relocation of twin force mains owned by the Union Sanitary District, 
hereinafter referred to as “District”.  The projects where construction management 
and inspection services are to be provided include the “Twin Force Main 
Relocation – Phase 1,”  “Hickory Street Sanitary Sewer Force Main Concrete Cap, 
” and the demolition of the District’s abandoned Newark treatment plant, 
collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Project.” 

2. PROJECT COORDINATION

Activities under this task order shall be coordinated through the District’s Project 
Manager, Rollie Arbolante.

3. SCOPE OF WORK

The Scope of Services for this task order are presented in Exhibit A.

4. DELIVERABLES

Engineer shall provide the District with all project documentation identified in 
Exhibit A.

37 of 128



Twin Force Main Relocation Project 
Task Order No. 1 – Tanner Pacific, Inc. Page 2 of 3 

5. PAYMENT TO THE ENGINEER

Payment to the Engineer shall be as called for in Article 2 of the Agreement. 
Compensation shall be on an hourly basis with a not to exceed amount of $
290,000. The hourly rates and budget are presented in Exhibit B to Task Order No. 
1 in accordance with current Tanner Pacific Rates.

The following table summarizes the previously executed and proposed task 
orders and amendments under the Agreement:

Task Order / 
Amendment

Not to 
Exceed 
Amount

Board 
Authorization 

Required? 
(Yes/No)

District Staff 
Approval

Task Order No. 1 –
Construction 
Management

$290,000 Yes Paul Eldredge

Total $290,000

6. TIME OF COMPLETION

All work and deliverables identified in this task order shall be completed and 
received by the District no later than 180 calendar days from the date of this task 
order. 

7. KEY PERSONNEL

The Engineer’s personnel assigned to Task Order No. 1 shall be as follows:

ROLE      KEY PERSONNEL TO BE ASSIGNED

Project Manager, QA/QC   Michael Jaeger
Construction Manager   David Jaworski
Inspector Thomas Hanson
Office Engineer Lisa Vance

Key personnel shall not be changed except in accordance with Article 8 of the 
Agreement.

38 of 128



Twin Force Main Relocation Project 
Task Order No. 1 – Tanner Pacific, Inc. Page 3 of 3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Task 
Order No. 1 as of November ___, 2017 and therewith incorporate it as part of the 
agreement. 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT TANNER PACIFIC, INC.
(DISTRICT)     (ENGINEER)

By: _______________________________ By: _________________________

Name: Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. Name: William W. Tanner, P.E.  

Title: General Manager/District Engineer Title: CEO

39 of 128



Exhibit A

Union Sanitary District
Twin Force Main Relocation Project

Tanner Pacific, Inc.
Task Order No. 1 Scope of Services

Construction Management & Inspection

November 7, 2017                                                Page 1 of 4  

I. Construction Manager: David Jaworski
A. Project Responsibilities

1. Construction Administration
a. Provide administration and management services.
b. Act as the point of contact with all parties.
c. Establish, implement and maintain a system for 

tracking the construction project correspondence and 
documents using The Procore system. 

d. Document all changes on the Construction Manager’s 
conformed set of record drawings.

2. Meetings
a. Prepare the agenda and facilitate the Preconstruction 

Meeting, progress meetings and other construction 
meetings required during the Project.

b. Prepare a Record of Discussion for all meetings and
distribute at the start of each progress meeting.

3. Submittals
a. Receive the submittals from the Contractor and 

Developer, and review the submittals for general 
conformity with the Contract requirements.

b. If obvious deficiencies are apparent in the submittal, 
send the submittal back to the Contractor and 
Developer for correction.

c. Route the submittal to Coleman Engineering, the
District and its consultants for review, then route the 
reviewed submittal back to the Contractor.

4. Requests for Information (RFI)
a. Receive all requests for information (RFIs) from the 

Contractor and determine if the request is valid; if not, 
Tanner Pacific will return the RFI to the Contractor.

b. Provide a response to the Contractor for any 
administrative and general RFIs. 

c. Route the RFIs to Coleman Engineering and the 
District and its consultants, as applicable. 

d. Review the response, verify acceptability of response 
and transmit the RFI response to the Contractor and 
Developer. 

5. Clarification Letters (CL)
a. Review design clarification.
b. Route the CL to Coleman Engineering; if appropriate, 

also route to the District and its consultants  

40 of 128



Exhibit A

Union Sanitary District
Twin Force Main Relocation Project

Tanner Pacific, Inc.
Task Order No. 1 Scope of Services

Construction Management & Inspection

November 7, 2017                                                Page 2 of 4  

6. Change Order Preparation, Negotiation & Processing
a. Discuss details of change with the District to confirm 

approach.
b. Prepare and issue the change request to the 

Contractor with the appropriate design documents from 
Coleman Engineering. 

c. Negotiate change orders with the Contractor and
Developer in conjunction with District. 

7. Prepare Contract Change Orders (CCO) for execution by 
the District, the Developer and Contractor.Field Orders (FO) 
and Field Directives (FD), if directed by the District 

a. In the event that the Contractor encounters a time 
sensitive problem where it is not practical to take time 
to negotiate a settlement, the CM will issue a FO.  All 
work done under a FO will be completed on a time and 
material basis.  The CM, the District and the Developer
will execute the FO.  

b. Field Directives will be issued to the Contractor when 
the directed work is to proceed under protest. A copy 
will be provided to the Developer for their reference.

8. Progress Payments, if directed by the District
a. Work with the District and the Developer to review and 

evaluate payment requests from the Contractor. 
b. If the District wishes, provide written comments 

regarding the acceptability of the payment request after 
comparison to records of progress at the time of the 
request. 

9. Scheduling
a. Review the initial baseline schedule and provide 

comments. 
b. Review monthly schedule updates for accuracy.
c. Provide written comments to the Contractor and 

Developer on the project schedule. 

II. Field Inspection (Thomas “TJ” Hanson)
A. Project Responsibilities

1. Field Observation (When in the field) 
a. Provide field observation services to monitor 

compliance with Contract Documents and District 
standard specifications and details. 

b. Prepare a daily observation report documenting all field 
activities, field crews, Contractor equipment, and field 
problems.

41 of 128



Exhibit A

Union Sanitary District
Twin Force Main Relocation Project

Tanner Pacific, Inc.
Task Order No. 1 Scope of Services

Construction Management & Inspection

November 7, 2017                                                Page 3 of 4  

c. Maintain the database, implemented by Tanner Pacific,
for daily observation reports and photographs.

d. Provide photographic documentation of The Project 
prior to construction, and maintain photographs of field 
activities for status monitoring of the project.  

2. Coordinate Special Inspections
a. Maintain communication with the 

Developer/Contractor to confirm types and schedule 
for special inspection (concrete, reinforcing steel 
installation, soil compaction, etc.)

b. Contact the Developer’s designated Special Inspection 
firm to schedule the appropriate inspector to be on site 
based on input from the Developer/Contractor to 
perform the required inspection.

c. Review Summary Report from the inspector to ensure 
the appropriate inspection took place and meets the 
contract requirements.

III. Office Engineer Lisa Vance
A. Assist with Pre-Construction Tasks

1. Take notes during Pre-Construction meeting
2. Send Record of Discussion to all Attendees after review by 

CM
3. Assist, as necessary, with Pre-Construction set up activities 

(trailer site, photo documentation, etc.)
B. Assist with Procore Site Set Up/Training

1. Work with CM to set up site for document management
2. Provide necessary training to 

Developer/Contractor/Designer staff for use of the Procore 
system 

C. Assist with Document Review
1. Work with the CM to evaluate submittals required to be 

reviewed to confirm all elements are included.
2. Track and maintain submittal log
3. Assist with coordinating review by Designer/Developer and 

USD as necessary
4. Assist with forwarding responses to Contractor/Developer
5. Assist with evaluation of RFI’s (if any) to confirm 

appropriate.
6. Work with CM to review RFI with USD and provide response 

to Developer/Contractor
7. Assist Inspector with any documentation needs and with any 

additional field inspection, if required.

42 of 128



Exhibit A

Union Sanitary District
Twin Force Main Relocation Project

Tanner Pacific, Inc.
Task Order No. 1 Scope of Services

Construction Management & Inspection

November 7, 2017                                                Page 4 of 4  

D. Assist with Project Close Out
1. Assist CM with formal Close-Out of Project Documents
2. Assist with Corrective Work Item list near the end of the 

project
3. Assist with establishing final project punch list
4. Assist with final compilation of Record Drawings maintained 

by Inspector to be delivered to Designer for final AUTOCAD 
set of drawings for USD records.

5. Assist with Procore Document extract to be provided to USD

IV. Special Inspections and Testing (Developer/Contractor to contract these 
services) 
A. Schedule and coordinate special inspections and materials testing,

as needed.  At a minimum:
a. Inspect backfill sampling and compaction testing
b. Inspect Concrete quality, if needed

B. The Developer/Contractor will contract for all other design related 
services. 

V. Project Closeout
A. The Contractor will furnish record drawings, which Tanner Pacific will 

review for accuracy and completeness. 
B. Tanner Pacific will forward accepted Record Drawings to Coleman 

Engineering to prepare final Record Drawings in CAD. 
C. Final Inspection and Punch List. 

1. Tanner Pacific, the District, Coleman Engineering (if 
necessary), the Developer and the Contractor will
participate and provide input on final inspection.

2. Tanner Pacific will prepare and issue the punch list with 
input from the District, Developer and Coleman Engineering. 

3. Tanner Pacific to provide the District and Developer with 
notification when all Punch List items are complete so 
District may notify Developer that they can formally accept 
the project for record purposes.

D. Tanner Pacific to provide the District with all project documentation 
electronically in PDF format, with record drawings in both CAD and
PDF. 

VI. Warranty Coordination
A. The District will coordinate warranty work after the start of the 

warranty period.  

43 of 128



EXHIBIT   B

Close  Out
Hours Rate Amount Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18

Construction Management Team
Project Manager M. Jaeger (Allowance) 10,000$
Constructon Manager D. Jaworski 440 200$ 88,000$ 80 80 80 80 80 40
Office Engineer L. Vance 220 105$ 23,100$ 40 40 40 40 40 20
Inspector TJ Hanson 980 165$ 161,700$ 180 180 180 180 180 80
CM Subtotal 282,800$

Other Direct Costs
Inspector Work Trailer 6.0 $1,200 7,200$ 1 1 1 1 1 1

ODC Subtotal 7,200$

TOTAL 1,646 290,000$ 300 300 300 300 300 140

Base Contract % = 4.46%

Notes & Assumptions:
Construction Cost Estimate (Approximate): $6,500,000
NTP: 11/1/2017
Construction Period (CDs): 150
Substantial Completion: 3/31/2018
Closeout: 4 weeks

1.  Tanner Pacific's rates include all office expenses for home office telephone, computers, in-house reproduction and travel in the Bay Area in personal vehicles.
2.  The Budget is based on an anticipated NTP of November 13, 2017. 
3.  The Budget includes some OT hours due to construction uncertainty on two projects.  If OT does not occur it will not be billed.

Union Sanitary District
 Twin Force Main Relocation - Task Order No. 1

Tanner Pacific, Inc. - Staff Effort and Budget Estimate for Construction Management Services
November 7, 2017

Budget Construction

44 of 128



Page 1 

TWIN FORCE MAIN RELOCATION PROJECT

AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT
AND

TANNER PACIFIC, INC.
FOR

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT MADE AS OF November_____________, 2017,
BETWEEN UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (hereinafter referred to as District), and 
TANNER PACIFIC, INC. (hereinafter referred to as Engineer).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, William Lyon Homes (Developer) intends to relocate a portion of the 
District’s twin force mains between the Irvington and Newark Pump Stations
(hereinafter referred to as Project), and,

WHEREAS, District requires certain professional services in connection with the 
Project (hereinafter referred as Services); and

WHEREAS, Engineer is qualified and prepared to provide such Services;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises contained herein, the 
parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY ENGINEER

1.1 Specific Services and the associated scope of services, payment, 
schedule, and personnel will be defined in specific Task Order as 
mutually agreed by District and Engineer.

1.2 All Task Orders will by reference incorporate the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement, and become formal amendments hereto.

ARTICLE 2 - COMPENSATION

45 of 128



Page 2 

2.1 Compensation for consulting services performed under this Agreement 
shall include:

(1) Direct labor costs, multiplied by an agreed upon fixed factor (the 
Multiplier), to compensate for fringe benefits, indirect costs, and 
profit.

(2) Non-labor direct project charge not included in the fixed factor 
and acceptable, without any markup.

(3) Subconsultant costs, with a maximum markup of 5%.

Definitions are as follows:

(a) Direct labor is salaries and wages paid to personnel for time 
directly chargeable to the project.  Direct labor does not include 
the cost of Engineer’s statutory and customary benefits, such 
as sick leave, holidays, vacations, and medical and retirement 
benefits nor the cost of the time of executive and administrative
personnel and others whose time is not identifiable to the 
project.

(b) Fringe benefits include Engineer’s statutory and customary 
benefits, such as sick leave, holidays, vacations, medical and 
retirement benefits, incentive pay, tuition, and other costs
classified as employee benefits.

(c) Indirect costs are allocations of costs that are not directly 
chargeable to a specific engagement and are commonly 
referred to as Engineer’s overhead.  Indirect costs include 
provisions for such things as clerical support, office space, light 
and heat, insurance, statutory and customary employee 
benefits, and the time of executive and administrative personnel 
and others whose time is not identifiable to the Project or to any 
other project.  Under no circumstances can the same labor 
costs be charged as direct labor and also appear at the same 
time as indirect costs, and vice versa.

(d) The Multiplier is a multiplicative factor which is applied to direct 
labor costs, and compensates Engineer for fringe benefits and 
indirect costs (overhead) and profit.

(e) Other non-labor direct project charges shall be included in the 
overhead and these charges include typical expenses as cost 
of transportation and subsistence, printing and reproduction, 
computer time and programming costs, identifiable supplies, 

46 of 128



Page 3 

outside consultant’s charges, subcontracts, and charges by 
reviewing authorities.”

Alternatively, the District and the Engineer may agree to utilize the fully-
encumbered hourly rates and fees for Services performed by the 
Engineer.  These hourly rates and fees shall be based on the Engineer’s 
rate schedule published at the time this Agreement or Task Order is 
executed and shall be attached to each applicable Task Order.

2.2 Reimbursement for mileage shall not exceed the prevailing Internal 
Revenue Service’s standard mileage rate.

2.3 A Cost Ceiling will be established for each Task Order which is based 
upon estimated labor-hours and cost estimates. Costs as described 
above, comprising direct labor, overhead cost, and other direct costs, 
shall be payable up to a Cost Ceiling as specified in the Task Order.  A 
Maximum Fee Ceiling, or Task Order Firm Ceiling, will also be 
established for each Task Order which includes the Cost Ceiling plus 
the Professional Fee.

2.4 Engineer shall invoice District monthly for the actual costs incurred, and 
a pro-rated portion of the Professional Fee for work performed during 
the previous month.  If the Maximum Fee Ceiling is reached, the 
Engineer will complete the agreed-upon work for the Maximum Fee 
Ceiling.  With District staff approval, labor hours may be reallocated 
within the tasks without renegotiation in such a manner so as not to 
exceed the Maximum Fee Ceiling.

2.5 The Engineer shall provide the District with a review of the budget 
amounts when 75 percent of the Cost Ceiling for any task has been 
expended.  Engineer may request a revision in the Cost Ceiling for 
performance of this Agreement, and will relate the rationale for the 
revision to the specific basis of estimate as defined in the Scope of 
Services.  Such notification will be submitted to the District at the earliest 
possible date.  The authorized Cost Ceiling shall not be exceeded 
without written approval of the District.

2.6 The Professional Fee will not be changed except in the case of a written 
amendment to the Agreement which alters the Scope of Services.  
District and Engineer agree to negotiate an increase or decrease in Cost 
Ceiling and Professional Fee for any change in Scope of Services 
required at any time during the term of this Agreement.  Engineer will 
not commence work on the altered Scope of Services until authorized 
by District.

47 of 128



Page 4 

2.7 Direct labor rates are subject to revision to coincide with Engineer’s 
normal salary review schedule.  Adjustments in direct labor rates shall 
not affect the firm ceiling without prior written authorization of the District.

2.8 District shall pay Engineer in accordance with each Task Order for 
Services. 

2.9 Engineer shall submit monthly statements for Services rendered.  
District will make prompt monthly payments in response to Engineer's 
monthly statements.

ARTICLE 3 - PERIOD OF SERVICE

3.1 Engineer's services will be performed and the specified services 
rendered and deliverables submitted within the time period or by the 
date stipulated in each Task Order.

3.2 Engineer's services under this Agreement will be considered complete 
when the services are rendered and/or final deliverable is submitted and 
accepted by District.

3.3 If any time period within or date by which any of the Engineer's services 
are to be completed is exceeded through no fault of Engineer, all rates, 
measures and amounts of compensation and the time for completion of 
performance shall be subject to equitable adjustment.

ARTICLE 4 - DISTRICT'S RESPONSIBILITIES

District will do the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the services of 
Engineer.

4.1 Provide all criteria and full information as to District's requirements for 
the services assignment and designate in writing a person with authority 
to act on District's behalf on all matters concerning the Engineer's 
services. 

4.2 Furnish to Engineer all existing studies, reports and other available data 
pertinent to the Engineer's services, obtain or authorize Engineer to 
obtain or provide additional reports and data as required, and furnish to 
Engineer services of others required for the performance of Engineer's 
services hereunder, and Engineer shall be entitled to use and rely upon 
all such information and services provided by District or others in 
performing Engineer's services under this Agreement.

48 of 128



Page 5 

4.3 Arrange for access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon 
public and private property as required for Engineer to perform services 
hereunder.

4.4 Perform such other functions as are indicated in each Task Order related 
to duties of District.

4.5 Bear all costs incident to compliance with the requirements of this 
Section.

ARTICLE 5 - STANDARD OF CARE

5.1 Engineer shall exercise the same degree of care, skill, and diligence in 
the performance of the Services as is ordinarily provided by a 
professional Engineer under similar circumstance and Engineer shall, at 
no cost to District, re-perform services which fail to satisfy the foregoing 
standard of care.

ARTICLE 6 - OPINIONS OF COST AND SCHEDULE

6.1 Since Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, materials, 
equipment or services furnished by others, or over contractors', 
subcontractors' , or vendors' methods of determining prices, or over 
competitive bidding or market conditions or economic conditions, 
Engineer's cost estimate and economic analysis shall be made on the 
basis of qualification and experience as a professional engineer.

6.2 Since Engineer has no control over the resources provided by others to 
meet contract schedules, Engineer's forecast schedules shall be made 
on the basis of qualification and experience as a professional Engineer.

6.3 Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual 
project costs will not vary from his cost estimates or that actual 
schedules will not vary from his forecast schedules.

ARTICLE 7 - SUBCONTRACTING

7.1 No subcontract shall be awarded by Engineer until prior written approval 
is obtained from the District.

ARTICLE 8 - ENGINEER-ASSIGNED PERSONNEL

49 of 128



Page 6 

8.1 Engineer shall designate in writing an individual to have immediate 
responsibility for the performance of the services and for all matters 
relating to performance under this Agreement.  Key personnel to be 
assigned by Engineer will be stipulated in each Task Order.  Substitution 
of any assigned person shall require the prior written approval of the 
District, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  If the District 
determines that a proposed substitution is not responsible or qualified to 
perform the services then, at the request of the District, Engineer shall 
substitute a qualified and responsible person.

ARTICLE 9 - OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

9.1 All work products, drawings, data, reports, files, estimate and other such 
information and materials (except proprietary computer programs, 
including source codes purchased or developed with Engineer monies) 
as may be accumulated by Engineer to complete services under this 
Agreement shall be owned by the District.

9.2 Engineer shall retain custody of all project data and documents other 
than deliverables specified in each Task Order, but shall make access 
thereto available to the District at all reasonable times the District may 
request.  District may make and retain copies for information and 
reference.

9.3 All deliverables and other information prepared by Engineer pursuant to 
this Agreement are instruments of service in respect to this project.  
They are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by District 
or others on extensions of this Project or on any other project.  Any reuse 
without written verification or adaptation by Engineer for the specific 
purpose intended will be at District's sole risk and without liability or legal 
exposure to Engineer; and District shall indemnify and hold harmless 
Engineer against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses including 
attorney's fees arising out of or resulting from such reuse.  Any such 
verification or adaptation will entitle Engineer to further compensation at 
rates to be agreed upon by District and Engineer.

ARTICLE 10 - RECORDS OF LABOR AND COSTS

10.1 Engineer shall maintain for all Task Orders, records of all labor and costs 
used in claims for compensation under this Agreement.  Records shall 
mean a contemporaneous record of time for personnel; a methodology 
and calculation of the Multiplier for fringe benefits and indirect costs; and 
invoices, time sheets, or other factors used as a basis for determining 
other non-labor Project charges.  These records must be made available 

50 of 128



Page 7 

to the District upon reasonable notice of no more than 48 hours during 
the period of the performance of this Agreement.

10.2 After delivery of Services (completion of Task Orders) under this 
Agreement, the Engineer's records of all costs used in claims for 
compensation under this Agreement shall be available to District's 
accountants and auditors for inspection and verification.  These records 
will be maintained by Engineer and made reasonably accessible to the 
District for a period of three (3) years after completion of Task Orders 
under this Agreement.

10.3 Engineer agrees to cooperate and provide any and all information 
concerning the Project costs which are a factor in determining 
compensation under this Agreement as requested by the District or any 
public agency which has any part in providing financing for, or authority 
over, the Services which are provided under the Agreement.

10.4 Failure to provide documentation or substantiation of all Project costs 
used as a factor in compensation paid under Article 2 hereof will be 
grounds for District to refuse payment of any statement submitted by the 
Engineer and for a back charge for any District funds, including interest 
from payment; or grant, matching, or other funds from agencies assisting 
District in financing the Services specified in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - INSURANCE

Engineer shall provide and maintain at all times during the performance of the 
Agreement the following insurances:

11.1 Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for 
protection of Engineer's employees as required by law and as will protect 
Engineer from loss or damage because of personal injuries, including 
death to any of his employees.

11.2 Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance.  Engineer agrees to 
carry a Comprehensive Automobile Liability Policy providing bodily 
injury liability.  This policy shall protect Engineer against all liability 
arising out of the use of owned or leased automobiles both passenger 
and commercial.  Automobiles, trucks, and other vehicles and 
equipment (owned, not owned, or hired, licensed or unlicensed for road 
use) shall be covered under this policy.  Limits of liability for 
Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance shall not be less than 
$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit.

51 of 128



Page 8 

11.3 Comprehensive General Liability Insurance as will protect Engineer and 
District from any and all claims for damages or personal injuries, 
including death, which may be suffered by persons, or for damages to 
or destruction to the property of others, which may arise from the 
Engineer's operations under this Agreement, which insurance shall 
name the District as additional insured.  Said insurance shall provide a 
minimum of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit coverage for personal 
injury, bodily injury, and property damage for each occurrence and 
aggregate.  Such insurance will insure Engineer and District from any 
and all claims arising from the following:

1. Personal injury;
2. Bodily injury;
3. Property damage;
4. Broad form property damage;
5. Independent contractors;
6. Blanket contractual liability.

11.4 Engineer shall maintain a policy of professional liability insurance, 
protecting it against claims arising out of negligent acts, errors, or 
omissions of Engineer pursuant to this Agreement, in an amount of not 
less than $1,000,000.  The said policy shall cover the indemnity 
provisions under this Agreement.

11.5 Engineer agrees to maintain such insurance at Engineer's expense in 
full force and effect in a company or companies satisfactory to the 
District.  All coverage shall remain in effect until completion of the 
Project.

11.6 Engineer will furnish the District with certificates of insurance and 
endorsements issued by Engineer's insurance carrier and 
countersigned by an authorized agent or representative of the insurance 
company.  The certificates shall show that the insurance will not be 
cancelled without at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to the 
District.  The certificates for liability insurance will show that liability 
assumed under this Agreement is included.  The endorsements will 
show the District as an additional insured on Engineer’s insurance 
policies for the coverage required in Article 11 for services performed 
under this Agreement, except for workers’ compensation and 
professional liability insurance.

11.7 Waiver of Subrogation:  Engineer hereby agrees to waive subrogation 
which any insurer of Engineer may acquire from Engineer by virtue of 
the payment of any loss.  Engineer agrees to obtain any endorsement 
that may be necessary to effect this waiver of subrogation.

52 of 128



Page 9 

The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of 
subrogation in favor of the District for all work performed by the 
Engineer, its employees, agents and subconsultants.

ARTICLE 12 - LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 Having considered the risks and potential liabilities that may exist during 
the performance of the Services, and in consideration of the promises 
included herein, District and Engineer agree to allocate such liabilities in 
accordance with this Article 12.  Words and phrases used in this Article 
shall be interpreted in accordance with customary insurance industry 
usage and practice.

12.2 Engineer shall indemnify and save harmless the District and all of their 
agents, officers, and employees from and against all claims, demands, 
or causes of action of every name or nature to the extent caused by the 
negligent error, omission, or act of Engineer, its agents, servants, or 
employees in the performance of its services under this Agreement.

12.3 In the event an action for damages is filed in which negligence is alleged 
on the part of District and Engineer, Engineer agrees to defend District.  
In the event District accepts Engineer's defense, District agrees to 
indemnify and reimburse Engineer on a pro rata basis for all expenses 
of defense and any judgment or amount paid by Engineer in resolution 
of such claim.  Such pro rata share shall be based upon a final judicial 
determination of negligence or, in the absence of such determination, by 
mutual agreement.

12.4 Engineer shall indemnify District against legal liability for damages 
arising out of claims by Engineer's employees.  District shall indemnify 
Engineer against legal liability for damages arising out of claims by 
District's employees.

12.5 Indemnity provisions will be incorporated into all Project contractual 
arrangements entered into by District and will protect District and 
Engineer to the same extent.

12.6 Upon completion of all services, obligations and duties provided for in 
the Agreement, or in the event of termination of this Agreement for any 
reason, the terms and conditions of this Article shall survive.

12.7 To the maximum extent permitted by law, Engineer’s liability for District’s 
damage will not exceed the aggregate compensation received by 
Engineer under this Agreement or the maximum amount of professional 
liability insurance available at the time of any settlement or judgment, 
which ever is greater.

53 of 128



Page 10

ARTICLE 13 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Engineer undertakes performance of the Services as an independent contractor 
and shall be wholly responsible for the methods of performance.  District will have 
no right to supervise the methods used, but District will have the right to observe 
such performance.  Engineer shall work closely with District in performing Services 
under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 14 - COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

In performance of the Services, Engineer will comply with applicable regulatory 
requirements including federal, state, and local laws, rules, regulations, orders, 
codes, criteria and standards.  Engineer shall procure the permits, certificates, and 
licenses necessary to allow Engineer to perform the Services.  Engineer shall not 
be responsible for procuring permits, certificates, and licenses required for any 
construction unless such responsibilities are specifically assigned to Engineer in 
Task Order.

ARTICLE 15 - NONDISCLOSURE OF PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

Engineer shall consider all information provided by District and all drawings, 
reports, studies, design calculations, specifications, and other documents resulting 
from the Engineer's performance of the Services to be proprietary unless such 
information is available from public sources.  Engineer shall not publish or disclose 
proprietary information for any purpose other than the performance of the Services 
without the prior written authorization of District or in response to legal process.

ARTICLE 16 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

16.1 The obligation to continue Services under this Agreement may be 
terminated by either party upon seven days written notice in the event 
of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the 
terms hereof through no fault of the terminating party.

16.2 District shall have the right to terminate this Agreement or suspend 
performance thereof for District's convenience upon written notice to 
Engineer, and Engineer shall terminate or suspend performance of 
Services on a schedule acceptable to District.  In the event of termination 
or suspension for District's convenience, District will pay Engineer for all 
services performed and costs incurred including termination or 

54 of 128



Page 11

suspension expenses.  Upon restart of a suspended project, equitable 
adjustment shall be made to Engineer's compensation.

ARTICLE 17 - UNCONTROLLABLE FORCES

17.1 Neither District nor Engineer shall be considered to be in default of this 
Agreement if delays in or failure of performance shall be due to 
uncontrollable forces, the effect of which, by the exercise of reasonable 
diligence, the nonperforming party could not avoid.  The term 
"uncontrollable forces" shall mean any event which results in the 
prevention or delay of performance by a party of its obligations under 
this Agreement and which is beyond the control of the nonperforming 
party.  It includes, but is not limited to, fire, flood, earthquake, storms, 
lightening, epidemic, war, riot, civil disturbance, sabotage, inability to 
procure permits, licenses, or authorizations from any state, local, or 
federal agency or person for any of the supplies, materials, accesses, or 
services required to be provided by either District or Engineer under this 
Agreement, strikes, work slowdowns or other labor disturbances, and 
judicial restraint.

17.2 Neither party shall, however, be excused from performance if 
nonperformance is due to uncontrollable forces which are removable or 
remediable, and which the nonperforming party could have, with the 
exercise of reasonable diligence, removed or remedied with reasonable 
dispatch.  The provisions of this Article shall not be interpreted or 
construed to require Engineer or District to prevent, settle, or otherwise 
avoid a strike, work slowdown, or other labor action.  The nonperforming 
party shall, within a reasonable time of being prevented or delayed from 
performance by an uncontrollable force, give written notice to the other 
party describing the circumstances and uncontrollable forces preventing 
continued performance of the obligations of this Agreement.  The 
Engineer will be allowed reasonable negotiated extension of time or 
adjustments for District initiated temporary stoppage of services.

ARTICLE 18 - MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 A waiver by either District or Engineer of any breach of this Agreement 
shall not be binding upon the waiving party unless such waiver is in 
writing.  In the event of a written waiver, such a waiver shall not affect 
the waiving party's rights with respect to any other or further breach.

18.2 The invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability of any provision of this 
Agreement, or the occurrence of any event rendering any portion or 
provision of this Agreement void, shall in no way effect the validity or 

55 of 128



Page 12

enforceability of any other portion or provision of the Agreement.  Any 
void provision shall be deemed severed from the Agreement and the 
balance of the Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the 
Agreement did not contain the particular portion or provision held to be 
void.

ARTICLE 19 - INTEGRATION AND MODIFICATION

19.1 This Agreement (consisting of pages 1 to 14), together with all Task 
Orders executed by the undersigned, is adopted by District and 
Engineer as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the 
Agreement between District and Engineer.  This Agreement supersedes 
all prior agreements, contracts, proposals, representations, 
negotiations, letters, or other communications between the District and 
Engineer pertaining to the Services, whether written or oral.

19.2 The Agreement may not be modified unless such modifications are 
evidenced in writing signed by both District and Engineer.

ARTICLE 20 - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

20.1 District and Engineer each binds itself and its directors, officers, 
partners, successors, executors, administrators, assigns and legal 
representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, 
successors, executors, administrators, assigns, and legal 
representatives of such other party, in respect to all covenants, 
agreements, and obligations of this Agreement.

20.2 Neither District nor Engineer shall assign, sublet, or transfer any rights 
under or interest in (including, but without limitation, monies that may 
become due or monies that are due) this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other, except to the extent that the effect of this limitation 
may be restricted by law.  Unless specifically stated to the contrary in 
any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or 
discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under this 
Agreement.  Nothing contained in this paragraph shall prevent Engineer 
from employing such independent engineers, associates, and 
subcontractors as he may deem appropriate to assist him/her in the 
performance of the Services hereunder and in accordance with Article 
7.

20.3 Nothing herein shall be construed to give any rights or benefits to 
anyone other than District and Engineer.

56 of 128



Page 13

ARTICLE 21 – INFORMATION SYSTEM SECURITY

When the District determines this article is applicable, the Engineer shall obtain written 
approval from the District representative prior to accessing District internal systems 
through real-time computer connections.  Upon approval, the Engineer will use only in-
bound connections to accomplish a legitimate business need and a previously defined 
and approved task.  As a condition of approval, the Engineer shall:

a) Be running a current operating system supported by the District with up-to-
date security patches applied as defined in the District COE/Non-COE 
document.

b) Have anti-virus software installed on his/her personal computer with up-to-
date virus signatures.

c) Have personal firewall software installed and enabled on their computer.

d) Understand and sign the District’s Electronic Equipment Use Policy, 
number 2160. 

The District reserves the right to audit the security measures in effect on Engineer’s 
connected systems without prior notice.  The District also reserves the right to 
terminate network connections immediately with all Engineer’s systems not meeting 
the above requirements.

ARTICLE 22 – EMPLOYEE BACKGROUND CHECK

Engineer, at no additional expense to the District, shall conduct a background 
check for each of its employees, as well as for the employees of its subconsultants
(collectively "Consultant Employees") who will have access to District’s computer 
systems, either through on-site or remote access, or whose contract work requires 
an extended presence on the District’s premises. The minimum background check 
process for any District consultant shall include, but not be limited to

1. California residents: Criminal Records (County and State Criminal Felony 
and Misdemeanor

2. Out of State residents: Federal criminal search of the National Criminal 
Database,

The background check shall be conducted and the results submitted to the District
prior to initial access by Consultant Employees. If at any time, it is discovered that 
a Consultant Employee has a criminal record that includes a felony or 
misdemeanor, the Engineer is required to inform the District immediately and the 
District will assess the circumstances surrounding the conviction, time frame, 
nature, gravity, and relevancy of the conviction to the job duties, to determine 
whether the Consultant Employee will be placed or remain on a District 

57 of 128



Page 14

assignment. The District may withhold consent at its sole discretion. The District 
may also conduct its own criminal background check of the Consultant Employees. 
Failure of the Engineer to comply with the terms of this paragraph may result in the 
termination of its contract with the District. 

ARTICLE 23 - EXCEPTIONS

No exceptions.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this 
Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT TANNER PACIFIC, INC.

By: ___________________________ By: _________________________

Name: Paul R. Eldredge, P.E. Name:  Michael K. Jaeger, P.E.____

Title: General Manager/District Engineer Title: Principal ______________

Date: Date: 

58 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

DATE: November 6, 2017 
 
MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 
 
FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Sami E. Ghossain, Manager of Technical Services 
 Raymond Chau, CIP Coach 
 Derek Chiu, Assistant Engineer 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 9 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
 Award the Construction Contract for the Primary Digester No. 3 

Rehabilitation Project to Monterey Mechanical Company 
  
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends the Board award the construction contract for the Primary Digester No. 3 
Rehabilitation Project (Project) to Monterey Mechanical Company in the amount of 
$1,956,000.  Funds for the project have been budgeted in the Renewal and Replacement Fund. 
 
Background 
 
The District has six primary and two secondary digesters at the Alvarado Wastewater 
Treatment Plant that require periodic cleaning to remove accumulated debris and to maintain 
treatment capacity.  Primary Digester No. 3 was originally constructed in 1962 and was last 
taken out of service for cleaning and assessment in 2010, which was followed by some 
rehabilitation work, primarily on the digester dome.  Staff removed Primary Digester No. 3 
from service again in Spring 2017 for the purposes of cleaning it and re-assessing its condition.  
The District plans to rehabilitate Primary Digester No. 3 before placing the digester back in 
service. 

On January 23, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to execute an Agreement and 
Task Order No. 1 with Carollo Engineers in the amount of $158,813 to provide design services 

59 of 128



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 2 

for the Project.  The Project also includes structural, mechanical, and electrical improvements 
at the Cogeneration Building and Thickener Control Building. 
 
After Primary Digester No. 3 was cleaned, V&A Consulting Engineers completed a condition 
assessment of the structure in July 2017.  The assessment revealed that the interior concrete 
walls and floors of the digester were in good condition.  The exterior walls of the digester were 
in fair condition with some minor cracks and several small spalls with exposed, corroded steel 
reinforcement.  The coating on the steel dome appeared to be in good condition with some 
minor corrosion at the sharp edges and crevices.  Staff included these deficiencies in the 
Project’s scope. 
 
Scope of Work 
 
Carollo Engineers completed the design in August 2017.  The Project’s major elements are as 
follows: 

 
Repair of the foam insulation on the cover of Primary Digester No. 3. 
Recoating of the interior and exterior appurtenances of Primary Digester No. 3 (i.e., 
steel dome cover, center column, mixing nozzles, piping, covers, center water seal, and 
others). 
Installation of a lining system on the interior of Primary Digester No. 3 to stop seepage 
through the cracks in the wall. 
Repair of minor cracks, spalled concrete, and dome coating identified from the 
condition assessment. 
Addition of new circular viewports and the removal of existing rectangular ones. 
Addition of two new side manways to Primary Digester No. 3 to permit at-grade access 
into the digester. 
Replacement of the mixing piping between Primary Digester No. 3 and Heating and 
Mixing Building No. 2. 
Temporary removal of the center column of Primary Digester No. 3 and CCTV inspection 
of the two 14-inch diameter sludge pipelines under the digester. 
Modifications to the digester gas piping on top of Primary Digester No. 3. 
Modifications to the sludge recirculation piping at Heating and Mixing Building No. 2. 
Replacement of the existing digester gas flow meters at Primary Digesters No. 1, 2, and 
3. 
Modifications to the electrical panel of the digester gas conditioning system blowers at 
the Cogeneration Building. 
Installation of new emergency lights at the Cogeneration Building, Thickener Electrical 
Building, and Heating and Mixing Building No. 1. 
Modifications of the piping, valves, pipe supports, and lighting power supply at the 
Thickener Control Building. 

60 of 128



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 3 

Structural modifications to the thickener scum pits at the Thickener Control Building. 
Installation of new maintenance platform and associated piping and valves at the 
Thickener Control Building. 

Bid Results 
 
Staff initially advertised the Project for bids on August 15, 2017, and opened a single bid on 
September 13, 2017.  The bid, submitted by D. W. Nicholson Corporation, was in the amount of 
$2,016,108, which was 15% higher than the Engineer’s estimate of $1,750,000.  Staff reviewed 
the bid and determined that since only one bid was received and that the bid amount was 
higher than the Engineer’s Estimate, it was difficult to evaluate whether the bid was indicative 
of the Project’s scope or the lack of competition from other bidders.  On October 9, 2017, the 
Board rejected the sole bid submitted by D. W. Nicholson Corporation. 
 
Staff re-advertised the Project for bids on October 10, 2017.  Staff modified the Project’s bid 
documents by moving some of the scope of work from the base bid to bid alternates.  The 
modification would allow the District to award only the work included in the base bid should 
the total bid amount, including the bid alternates, significantly exceed the Engineer’s Estimate.  
The modification would also give staff an opportunity to evaluate whether the bid alternate 
amounts are reasonable given the complexity and criticality of the bid alternates’ scope of 
work. 
 
Staff received and opened three bids on October 31, 2017.  The bid results are summarized in 
the table below and in the attached Table 1. 
 

Contractor Total Base Bid Plus Bid Alternates A through H 
Monterey Mechanical Company 

Oakland, CA $1,956,000 

D. W. Nicholson Corporation 
Hayward, CA $2,014,603 

TNT Industrial Contractors Inc. 
Sacramento, CA $2,630,692 

Engineer’s Estimate $1,850,000 
 
Staff used the Total Base Bid Plus Bid Alternates A through H to determine the lowest 
responsive and responsible bidder for the Project.  Monterey Mechanical Company (MMC) was 
the apparent low bidder with a bid of $1,956,000, which is $106,000 or 5.7% above the 
Engineer’s Estimate of $1,850,000.  Carollo reviewed their original Engineer’s Estimate and 
updated it to $1,850,000 for the re-advertised Project. 
 
Staff believes MMC’s bid to be indicative of the Project’s scope as the two lowest bids were 
within 3% of each other.  Staff reviewed MMC’s bid alternate amounts and found them to be 

61 of 128



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 4 

reasonable.  Even though the three bids were higher than the Engineer’s Estimate, staff 
believes re-bidding the Project for a third time may not guarantee a lower bid and will further 
delay putting Primary Digester No. 3 back into service before the peak wet weather months of 
2018-2019. 

Staff reviewed MMC’s bid and determined it to be the lowest responsive and responsible bid, 
which the contractor has verified and confirmed.  No bid protests were received.  MMC is a 
General Engineering Class A licensed contractor who has recently and successfully completed 
the Newark Pump Station Waterline Project in 2015 and the Force Main Improvements Phase II 
Project in 2012.  Additional past projects completed for the District included the Sludge 
Thickeners 1 & 2 Rehabilitation Project, Pump Station Force Main Corrosion Repair Project, 
Digesters No. 5 and 6 Mixing Pumps and Heat Loop Improvements Project, Plant Mechanical 
Improvements Project, and Solids Handling Facilities Improvements Project.  Staff has been 
satisfied with their work performance. 

Bid Alternates 

The Project’s bid schedule included eight bid alternates.  Bid Alternate A provides the cost for 
the contractor to procure builder’s risk insurance coverage.  Builder’s risk insurance is a special 
type of property insurance that indemnifies against the loss of or damage to a building or 
facility under construction.   

Bid Alternates B through E are improvements at Primary Digester No. 3 and Heating and Mixing 
Building No. 2.  Bid Alternate B provides for two new at-grade manways at Digester No. 3 to 
improve access into the digester for staff.  Bid Alternate C is for replacement of overflow box 
piping at Digester No. 3.  Bid Alternate D improves the drainage within Heating and Mixing 
Building No. 2.  Bid Alternate E includes lighting improvements at Primary Digester No. 3 and 
Heating and Mixing Building No. 2. 

Bid Alternates F through H are improvements at the Thickener Control Building.  Bid Alternate 
F replaces the existing wind wall with new.  Bid Alternate G adds new conduit for lighting in the 
building.  Bid Alternate H modifies the 4W piping in the building to provide some redundancy 
for the seal water to the sludge pumps. 

Staff recommends including all bid alternates, Bid Alternates A through H, in the construction 
contract. 

Construction 

The Project’s construction period will be 240 calendar days with an estimated completion in 
August 201 .  At this time, staff will provide construction management and inspection services. 

62 of 128



Agenda Item No. 9 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 5 

Staff recommends the Board award the construction contract for the Primary Digester No. 3 
Rehabilitation Project, including Bid Alternates A through H, to Monterey Mechanical Company 
in the amount of $1,956,000. 
 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/DC:ks 
 
 
Attachments: Figure 1 – Site Plan 

Table 1 – Bid Tabulation 
Agreement 

63 of 128



FIGURE 1  –  PRIMARY DIGESTER NO. 3 REHABILITATION PROJECT

64 of 128



65 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 1 of 8

AGREEMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF

Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Project No. 800-493

THIS AGREEMENT, made and concluded, in duplicate, this   day of November 2017, between 
the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT (“District”), Union City, California, and MONTEREY
MECHANICAL COMPANY ("Contractor"), License No. 388361. 

W I T N E S S E T H :

1.That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter mentioned, to be made 
and performed by the District, and under the conditions expressed in the two bonds, bearing even 
date with these presents, and hereunto annexed, the Contractor agrees with the District, at his/her 
own proper cost and expense, to do all the work and furnish all the materials necessary to construct 
and complete in good workmanlike and substantial manner the project entitled: Primary Digester 
No. 3 Rehabilitation Project (Project No. 800-493) in strict conformity with the plans and 
specifications prepared therefor, which said plans and specifications are hereby specially referred to 
and by said reference made a part hereof.

2. Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements of the parties 
herein contained and to be performed, the Contractor hereby agrees to complete the work in 
accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated in the Contract Documents for the sum of One 
Million Nine Hundred Fifty Six Thousand Dollars ($1,956,000) (the “Contract Price”) computed in 
accordance with Contractor’s accepted proposal dated October 31, 2017, which accepted proposal 
is incorporated herein by reference thereto as if herein fully set forth.  This sum includes the 
following bid alternates that have been accepted by the District and are hereby incorporated in the 
Agreement: A, B, C, D, E, F, G, and H. Compensation shall be based upon the lump sum bid items 
plus the unit prices stated in the Bid Schedule times the actual quantities or units of work and 
materials performed or furnished.  The further terms, conditions, and covenants of this Agreement 
are set forth in the Contract Documents, each of which is by this reference made a part hereof.  
Payments are to be made to the Contractor in accordance with the provisions of the Contract 
Documents and the Technical Specifications in legally executed and regularly issued warrants of the 
District, drawn on the appropriate fund or funds as required by law and order of the District thereof.

3. The District hereby promises and agrees with the said Contractor to employ, and does 
hereby employ, the said Contractor to provide the materials and to do the work according to the 
terms and conditions herein contained and referred to, for the Contract Price, and hereby contracts 
to pay the same at the time, in the manner and upon the conditions set forth in the Contract 
Documents; and the said parties for themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors 
and assigns, do hereby agree to the full performance of the covenants herein contained.

4. The Contractor and any subcontractor performing or contracting any work shall comply with 
all applicable provisions of the California Labor Code for all workers, laborers and mechanics of all 
crafts, classifications or types, including, but necessarily limited to the following:

(a) The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Section 1810 to 
1815, inclusive, of the California Labor Code relating to working hours.  The Contractor shall, 

66 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 2 of 8

as a penalty to the District, forfeit the sum of twenty-five dollars ($25) for each worker 
employed in the execution of the Contract by the Contractor or by any subcontractor for each 
calendar day during which such worker is required or permitted to work more than eight (8) 
hours in any one calendar day and forty (40) hours in any one calendar week, unless such 
worker receives compensation for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours at not less 
than 1-1/2 times the basic rate of pay.

(b) Pursuant to the provision of California Labor Code, Sections 1770 et. seq., the 
Contractor and any subcontractor under him shall pay not less than the prevailing rate of per 
diem wages as determined by the Director of the California Department of Industrial 
Relations.  Pursuant to the provisions of California Labor Code Section 1773.2, the
Contractor is hereby advised that copies of the prevailing rate of per diem wages and a
general prevailing rate for holidays, Saturdays and Sundays and overtime work in the locality
in which the work is to be performed for each craft, classification, or type of worker required 
to execute the Contract, are on file in the office of the District, which copies shall be made
available to any interested party on request.  The Contractor shall post a copy of said 
prevailing rate of per diem wages at each job site.

(c) As required by Section 1773.1 of the California Labor Code, the Contractor shall 
pay travel and subsistence payments to each worker needed to execute the work, as such 
travel and subsistence payments are defined in the applicable collective bargaining 
agreements filed in accordance with this Section.

(d) To establish such travel and subsistence payments, the representative of any 
craft, classification, or type of workman needed to execute the contracts shall file with the 
Department of Industrial Relations fully executed copies of collective bargaining agreements 
for the particular craft, classification or type of work involved.  Such agreements shall be filed 
within 10 days after their execution and thereafter shall establish such travel and subsistence 
payments whenever filed 30 days prior to the call for bids.

(e) The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of Section 1775 of the California 
Labor Code and shall, as a penalty to the District, forfeit not more than two hundred dollars 
($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid less than the prevailing 
rate of per diem wages for each craft, classification, or type of worker needed to execute the 
contract.  The Contractor shall pay each worker an amount equal to the difference between 
the prevailing wage rates and the amount paid worker for each calendar day or portion 
thereof for which a worker was paid less than the prevailing wage rate.

(f) As required under the provisions of Section 1776 of the California Labor Code, 
Contractor and each subcontractor shall keep an accurate payroll record, showing the name, 
address, social security number, work classification, and straight time and overtime hours 
worked each day and week, and the actual per diem wages paid to each journeyman, 
apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by him or her in connection with the public 
work.  Said payroll shall be certified and shall be available for inspection at all reasonable 
hours at the principal office of the Contractor on the following basis:

(1) A certified copy of an employee's payroll record shall be made available 
for inspection or furnished to the employee or his or her authorized representative 
on request.

(2) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in Paragraph 4(f), herein, 

67 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 3 of 8

shall be made available for inspection or furnished upon request to the District, the 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, and the Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards of the Department of Industrial Relations.

(3) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in Paragraph 4(f), herein, 
shall be made available upon request by the public for inspection or for copies 
thereof; provided, however, that a request by the public shall be made through the 
District, the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor 
Standards Enforcement.  If the requested payroll records have not been provided 
pursuant to subparagraph 4(e) herein, the requesting party shall, prior to being 
provided the records, reimburse the costs of preparation by the Contractor, 
subcontractors, and the entity through which the request was made.  The public 
shall not be given access to the records at the principal offices of the Contractor.

The certified payroll records shall be on forms provided by the Division of Labor 
Standards Enforcement or shall contain the same information as the forms provided 
by the division. 

Certified payroll records shall be submitted electronically as required under 
California Labor Code Section 1776 to the Labor Commissioner pursuant to 
California Code of Regulations Chapter 8, Section 16404.

Each Contractor shall file a certified copy of the records, enumerated in Paragraph 
4(f) with the entity that requested the records within 10 days after receipt of a written 
request.  Any copy of records made available for inspection as copies and furnished 
upon request to the public or any public agency by the District, the Division of 
Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall be 
marked or obliterated in such a manner as to prevent disclosure of an individual's 
name, address, and social security number.  The name and address of the 
Contractor awarded the contract or performing the contract shall not be marked or 
obliterated.  The Contractor shall inform the District of the location of the records 
enumerated under Paragraph 4(f) including the street address, city and county, and 
shall, within 5 working days, provide a notice of change of location and address.  
The Contractor shall have 10 days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of 
written notice specifying in what respects the Contractor must comply with this 
Paragraph 4(f).  In the event that the Contractor fails to comply within the 10-day 
period, he or she shall, as a penalty to the state or the District, forfeit one hundred
dollars ($100) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker, until strict 
compliance is effectuated.  Upon the request of the Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, these penalties shall be 
withheld from progress payments then due.  Responsibility for compliance with 
Paragraph 4(f) lies with the Contractor.

(g) The Contractor and any subcontractors shall, when they employ any person in any 
apprenticeable craft or trade, apply to the joint apprenticeship committee administering the 
apprenticeship standards of the craft or trade in the area of the construction site for a 
certificate approving the Contractor or subcontractor under the apprenticeship standards for 
the employment and training of apprentices in the area or industry affected; and shall comply 
with all other requirements of Section 1777.5 of the California Labor Code.  The 
responsibility of compliance with California Labor Code Section 1777.5 during the 
performance of this contract rests with the Contractor.  Pursuant to California Labor Code 

68 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 4 of 8

Section 1777.7, in the event the Contractor willfully fails to comply with the provisions of 
California Labor Code Section 1777.5, the Contractor shall be denied the right to bid on any 
public works contract for up to three (3) years from the date noncompliance is determined 
and be assessed civil penalties.

(h) In accordance with the provisions of Article 5, Chapter 1, Part 7, Division 2 
(commencing with Section 1860), and Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 4 (commencing with 
Section 3700) of the California Labor Code, the Contractor is required to secure the payment 
of compensation to its employees and for that purpose obtain and keep in effect adequate 
Workers' Compensation Insurance.  If the Contractor, in the sole discretion of the District 
satisfies the District of the responsibility and capacity under the applicable Workers' 
Compensation Laws, if any, to act as self-insurer, the Contractor may so act, and in such 
case, the insurance required by this paragraph need not be provided.

The Contractor is advised of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code, 
which requires every employer to be insured against liability for Workers' Compensation or to 
undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that Code and shall comply 
with such provisions and have Employer’s Liability limits of $1,000,000 per accident before 
commencing the performance of the work of this Contract.

The Notice to Proceed with the Work under this Contract will not be issued, and the 
Contractor shall not commence work, until the Contractor submits written evidence that it has 
obtained full Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage for all persons whom it employs or 
may employ in carrying out the work under this Contract.  This insurance shall be in 
accordance with the requirements of the most current and applicable state Workers' 
Compensation Insurance Laws.  In accordance with the provisions of Section 1861 of the 
California Labor Code, the Contractor in signing this agreement certifies to the District as 
true the following statement:  "I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor 
Code which requires every employer to be insured against liability for Workers' 
Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that Code, 
and I will comply with such provisions before commencing the performance of the work of 
this contract."

A subcontractor is not allowed to commence work on the project until verification of Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance coverage has been obtained and verified by the Contractor and 
submitted to the Construction Manager for the District’s review and records.

(i) In accordance with the provisions of Section 1727 of the California Labor Code, the 
District, before making payment to the Contractor of money due under a contract for public 
works, shall withhold and retain therefrom all wages and penalties which have been forfeited 
pursuant to any stipulation in the contract, and the terms of Chapter 1, Part 7, Division 2 of 
the California Labor Code (commencing with Section 1720).  But no sum shall be withheld, 
retained or forfeited, except from the final payment, without a full investigation by either the 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement or by the District.

5. It is further expressly agreed by and between the parties hereto that should there be any 
conflict between the terms of this Agreement the instrument and the bid proposal of said Contractor, 
then this Agreement instrument shall control, and nothing herein contained shall be considered as 
an acceptance of the said terms of said proposal conflicting herewith.

6. The Contractor agrees to provide and maintain insurance coverage, and to indemnify and 

69 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 5 of 8

save harmless the parties named and in the manner set forth in Section 00800-2.0, LIABILITY AND 
INSURANCE, of the Supplementary General Conditions of the Specifications.

The duty of Contractor to indemnify and save harmless, as set forth herein, shall include a duty to 
defend as set forth in Section 2778 of the California Civil Code; provided, however, that nothing 
herein shall be construed to require Contractor to indemnify against any responsibility or liability in 
contravention of Section 2782 of the California Civil Code.

7. The Contractor shall diligently prosecute the work so that it shall be substantially completed 
within the time specified in Section 00800-1.1, Time Allowed for Completion. 

8. Except as otherwise may be provided herein, Contractor hereby expressly guarantees for 
one (1) full year from the date of the substantial completion of the work under this agreement and 
acceptance thereof by the District, to repair or replace any part of the work performed hereunder 
which constitutes a defect resulting from the use of inferior or defective materials, equipment or 
workmanship.  If, within said period, any repairs or replacements in connection with the work are, in 
the opinion of the District, rendered necessary as the result of the use of inferior or defective 
materials, equipment or workmanship, Contractor agrees, upon receipt of notice from District, and 
without expense to District, to promptly repair or replace such material or workmanship and/or 
correct any and all defects therein.  If Contractor, after such notice, fails to proceed promptly to 
comply with the terms of this guarantee, District may perform the work necessary to effectuate such 
correction and recover the cost thereof from the Contractor and/or its sureties.

In special circumstances where a particular item of work or equipment is placed in continuous 
service before substantial completion of the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run 
from an earlier date.  This date shall be agreed upon in writing by the Contractor and District on or 
before the item is placed in continuous service.

Any and all other special guarantees which may be applicable to definite parts of the work under this 
agreement shall be considered as an additional guarantee and shall not reduce or limit the 
guarantee as provided by Contractor pursuant to this paragraph during the first year of the life of 
such guarantee.

9. The Contractor shall provide, on the execution of this Agreement, a good and sufficient 
corporate surety bond in the penal sum of one hundred percent (100%) of the Contract Price, which 
bond shall be on the form provided by the District in Section 00610, FORM OF PERFORMANCE 
BOND, and be conditioned upon the faithful performance of all work required to be performed by the 
Contractor under this Agreement.  Said bond shall be liable for any and all penalties and obligations 
which may be incurred by Contractor under this Agreement.  The corporate surety bond shall be 
issued by a corporate surety that possesses a minimum rating from A. M. Best Company of A:VII 
and that is approved by the District.  The corporate surety shall be authorized to conduct business in 
California.  At its discretion, the District may request that a certified copy of the certificate of authority 
of the insurer issued by the Insurance Commissioner of the State of California be submitted by the 
surety to the District.  At its discretion, the District may also require the insurer to provide copies of 
its most recent annual statement and quarterly statement filed with the Department of Insurance 
pursuant to Article 10 (commencing with Section 900) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the 
Insurance Code.

10. In addition to the bond required under Paragraph 9, hereof, Contractor shall furnish a good 
and sufficient corporate surety bond in the penal sum of one hundred percent (100%) of the 

70 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 6 of 8

Contract Price, which bond shall be on the form provided by the District in Section 00620, 
PAYMENT BOND, and conform strictly with the provisions of Sections 9550 et seq. of the Civil 
Code, and all amendments thereto.  The corporate surety bond shall be issued by a corporate 
surety that possesses a minimum rating from A. M. Best Company of A:VII and that is approved by 
the District.  The corporate surety shall be authorized to conduct business in California.  At its 
discretion, the District may request that a certified copy of the certificate of authority of the insurer 
issued by the Insurance Commissioner of the State of California be submitted by the surety to the 
District.  At its discretion, the District may also require the insurer to provide copies of its most recent 
annual statement and quarterly statement filed with the Department of Insurance pursuant to Article 
10 (commencing with Section 900) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the Insurance Code.
  
11. The Contractor may substitute securities for the amounts retained by the District to ensure 
performance of the work in accordance with the provisions of Section 22300 of the Public Contract 
Code.  

12. The Contractor shall be provided the time period specified in Section 01340-2.0, MATERIAL 
AND EQUIPMENT SUBSTITUTIONS,  for submission of data substantiating a request for a 
substitution of an “or equal" item.

13. As required by Section 6705 of the California Labor Code and in addition thereto, whenever 
work under the Contract involves the excavation of any trench or trenches five feet or more in depth, 
the Contractor shall submit in advance of excavations, a detailed plan showing the design of 
shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of 
caving ground during the excavation of such trench or trenches.  If such plan varies from the shoring 
system standards established by the Construction Safety Orders of the Division of Industrial Safety 
in Title 8, Subchapter 4, Article 6, California Code of Regulations, the plan shall be prepared by a 
registered civil or structural engineer employed by the Contractor, and all costs therefore shall be 
included in the price named in the Contract for completion of the work as set forth in the Contract 
Documents.  Nothing in this Section shall be deemed to allow the use of a shoring, sloping, or other 
protective system less effective than that required by the Construction Safety Orders.  Nothing in this 
Section shall be construed to impose tort liability on the District, the Design Consultant, Construction 
Manager or any of their agents, consultants, or employees.  The District’s review of the Contractor’s 
excavation plan is only for general conformance to the California Construction Safety Orders.

Prior to commencing any excavation, the Contractor shall designate in writing to the Construction 
Manager the “competent person(s)” with the authority and responsibilities designated in the 
Construction Safety Orders.

14. In accordance with Section 7104 of the Public Contract Code, whenever any work involves 
digging trenches or other excavations that extend deeper than four feet below the surface, the 
provisions of Section 00700-7.2, Differing Site Conditions, shall apply.

15. In accordance with Section 7103.5 of the Public Contract Code, the Contractor and 
subcontractors shall conform to the following requirements.  In entering into a public works contract 
or a subcontract to supply goods, services, or materials pursuant to a public works contract, the 
Contractor or subcontractor offers and agrees to assign to the District all rights, title, and interest in 
and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Section 15) or 
under the Cartwright Act [Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the 
Business and Professions Code], arising from purchases of goods, materials or services pursuant to 
this Contract or the subcontract.  Such assignment shall be made and become effective at the time 
the District tenders final payment to the Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties.

71 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 7 of 8

16. In accordance with Section 4552 of the Government Code, the Contractor shall conform to 
the following requirements.  In submitting a bid to the District, the Contractor offers and agrees that if 
the bid is accepted, it will assign to the District all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of 
action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Section 15) or under the Cartwright 
Act [Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and
Professions Code], arising from purchase of goods, materials, or services by the Contractor for sale 
to the District pursuant to the bid.  Such assignment shall be made and become effective at the time 
the District tenders final payment to the Contractor.

17. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 7100, the acceptance by the Contractor of an 
undisputed payment made under the terms of the Contract shall operate as, and shall be, a release 
to the District, and their duly authorized agents, from all claim of and/or liability to the Contractor 
arising by virtue of the contract related to those amounts.  Disputed contract claims in stated 
amounts may be specifically excluded by the Contractor from the operation of the release.

18. In accordance with California Business and Professions Code Section 7030, the Contractor 
is required by law to be licensed and regulated by the Contractors’ State License Board which has 
jurisdiction to investigate complaints against contractors if a complaint regarding a patent act or 
omission is filed within four years of the date of the alleged violation.  A complaint regarding a latent 
act or omission pertaining to structural defects must be filed within 10 years of the date of the 
alleged violation.  Any questions concerning the Contractor may be referred to the Registrar, 
Contractors’ State License Board, P.O. Box 26000, Sacramento, California 95826.

19.  INDEMNIFICATION. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the District from any claims, choses in action or lawsuits, whereby any subcontractor, 
material or equipment supplier, laborer or any person who supplies work or materials to said work of 
improvement may claim damages, losses and expenses thereto arising out of or resulting from any 
claim for performance of work, including the legal defense of any stop notice action as well as 
attorney fees and costs.  District may be required to engage separate legal counsel from that of the 
Contractor should District and Contractor be both named as defendants, cross-defendants or other 
parties to any such stop notice action in District’s sole discretion.  Contractor shall be fully liable for 
any judgment or damages resulting from any claim for stop notice relief or other liability regarding 
payment for materials, supplies, labor or equipment under this contract.  In claims against any 
person or entity indemnified under this paragraph by an employee of Contractor, a subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them for whose acts they may be liable, the indemnification 
obligation under this paragraph shall not be limited in amount or type of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a subcontractor.  In all cases, indemnification shall 
include attorney fees and court costs.

Unless arising solely out of the active negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
District or the Design Consultant, the Contractor shall indemnity, defend and hold harmless: (1) the 
District and its Board of Directors, officers, employees, agents and representative; (ii) the Design 
Consultant and its consultants for the Work and their respective agents and employees; and (iii) if 
one is designated by the District for the work, the Construction Manager and its agents and 
employees (collectively “the Indemnified Parties”).  The Contractor’s obligations hereunder include 
indemnity, defense and hold harmless of the Indemnified Parties from and against any and all 
damages, losses, claims, demands or liabilities whether for damages, losses or other relief, 
including, without limitation attorney’s fees and costs which arise, in whole or in part, from the Work, 
the Contract Documents or the acts, omissions or other conduct of the Contractor or any 
subcontractor or any person or entity engaged by them for the Work.  The Contractor’s obligations 

72 of 128



Agreement for the Construction of the Primary Digester No. 3 Rehabilitation Project

Page 8 of 8

under the foregoing include without limitation:  (i) injuries to or death of persons; (ii) damage to 
property; or (iii) theft or loss of property; (iv) stop notice claims asserted by any person or entity in 
connection with the Work; and (v) other losses, liabilities, damages or costs resulting from, in whole 
or part, any acts, omissions or other conduct of Contractor, any of Contractor’s Subcontractors, of 
any tier, or any other person or entity employed directly or indirectly by Contractor in connection with 
the Work and their respective agents, officers or employees.  If any action or proceeding, whether 
judicial, administrative, arbitration or otherwise, shall be commenced on account of any claim, 
demand or liability subject to Contractor’s obligations hereunder, and such action or proceeding 
names any of the Indemnified Parties as a party thereto, the Contractor, at its sole cost and 
expense, shall defend the District and the Design Consultant in such action or proceeding with 
counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Parties named in such action or proceeding.  In 
the event that there shall be any judgment, award, ruling, settlement, or other relief arising out of any 
such action or proceeding to which any of the Indemnified Parties are bound by, Contractor shall 
pay, satisfy or otherwise discharge any such judgment, award, ruling, settlement or relief. 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties from any and all liability or 
responsibility arising out of any such judgment, award, ruling, settlement or relief.  The Contractor’s 
obligations hereunder are binding upon Contractor’s Performance Bond Surety and these 
obligations shall survive notwithstanding Contractor’s completion of the Work or the termination of 
the Contract.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement this ________day of 
November 2017. 

MONTEREY MECHANICAL COMPANY

By:
Name:
Title:
Address: 8275 San Leandro Street, Oakland, C  94621 

UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

By:
Manny Fernandez
Board Secretary

Address: 5072 Benson Road, Union City, California 94587

ATTEST:

Karen Murphy
Attorney for Union Sanitary District

73 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 

Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 

Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney 

DATE: November 6, 2017 

MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 

FROM: Paul Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
Sami E. Ghossain, Manager of Technical Services 
Raymond Chau, CIP Coach 
Kevin Chun, Associate Engineer 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 10 – Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Consider a Resolution to Accept the Construction of the Headworks Knife 
Gate Valves 1-3 Replacement Project from D.W. Nicholson Corporation and 
Authorize Recordation of a Notice of Completion 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board consider a resolution to accept the construction of the Headworks 
Knife Gate Valves 1-3 Replacement Project from D.W. Nicholson Corporation and authorize the 
recordation of a Notice of Completion. 

Background 

The Headworks Building was constructed during the 1993 Plant Upgrade Project.  The purpose 
of the Headworks Building is to combine all influent wastewater to the Alvarado Wastewater 
Treatment Plant (WWTP), measure the total flow quantity, and remove rags and large debris 
with mechanical bar screens.  The influent wastewater enters the Headworks Building through 
three 42-inch diameter pipelines.  Two of the pipelines transport wastewater from the outlying 
pump stations through the transport system’s twin force mains, and the third pipeline 
transports wastewater from the on-site Alvarado Influent Pump Station (AIPS) which serves the 
Alvarado drainage basin. 

On each of the 42-inch diameter pipelines, there is a knife gate valve with a motorized actuator 
to stop the influent wastewater during a WWTP shutdown or to isolate individual pipelines for 

74 of 128



Agenda Item No. 10 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 
operation and maintenance needs.  The valves are located in an underground valve box south 
of the Headworks Building.  Figures 1 and 2 show the location of the Headworks Valve Box and 
the three pipelines. 
 
In 2015, staff attempted to isolate the force mains during a WWTP shutdown but discovered 
the valve on the east force main did not seal completely when closed and that allowed 
wastewater to leak past it.  Replacement of the valve’s internal seat was difficult as it required 
removal of the valve to access the seat.  Due to the size of the valve and the limited space 
inside the Headworks Valve Box, the removal required a contractor who specialized in rigging 
and lifting large equipment.  Additionally, staff performed a condition assessment of the three 
knife gate valves and found heavy corrosion on the valve bodies due to wastewater leaks from 
the packing glands that seal around the valve stems to prevent leakage along the stems.  Staff 
was unable to replace the packing material to stop the leakage as it required removal of the 
valve bonnet (valve cover).  A new re-designed knife gate valve will allow easier replacement of 
the packing material in the future. 
 
Because the valves are over 20 years old and are at or near the end of their useful life, staff 
determined the valves should be replaced. The three knife gate valves were also identified to 
be replaced in the most recent WWTP Renewal and Replacement Master Plan and Pump 
Station Master Plan. 
 
Figures 3 through 5 show the Headworks Valve Box and the original knife gate valves. 
 
On December 12, 2016, the Board awarded the construction contract for the Headworks Knife 
Gate Valves 1-3 Replacement Project in the amount of $478,800 to D.W. Nicholson 
Corporation. The purpose of the project was to replace the three 42-inch knife gate valves at 
the Headworks. The project was designed in-house by staff. 
 
Construction Contract 
 
Staff issued the Notice to Proceed to D.W. Nicholson on January 5, 2017, with a scheduled 
completion date of September 21, 2017.  D.W. Nicholson substantially completed the Project 
on September 5, 2017, 16 calendar days earlier than the scheduled completion date. 
Construction management and inspection were performed by staff.  Figures 6 through 9 
include construction photos of the new and old knife gate valves being replaced during 
construction. 
 
Change Order Summary 
 
The construction contract included two change orders in the amount of $33,895, which is 
approximately 7.1% of the original contract amount. 

75 of 128



Agenda Item No. 10 
Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Page 3 
 
 
 
Change Order No. 1 included the replacement of the AIPS Knife Gate Valve at Control Box No. 1 
instead of the West Force Main Knife Gate Valve.  During construction, Operations and 
Maintenance staff requested that the AIPS Knife Gate Valve at Control Box No. 1 be replaced 
under this project since the valve was found to be inoperable and is critical to the normal 
operation of Control Box No. 1.  This change also required the installation and removal of a 
temporary bulkhead in Control Box No. 1 to isolate the AIPS force main, modification of the 
new gate valve stem for a deeper valve location, and multiple night shift construction activities.  
Staff will replace the West Force Main Knife Gate Valve when the two existing force main knife 
gate valves at Control Box No. 1 are replaced. 
 
All negotiations have been completed and the change orders executed. A summary of the 
change orders is provided in Table 1. 
 

Table 1 
Change Order Summary 

 
No. Description Amount 

1 Replacement of Alvarado Knife Gate Valve at Control Box No. 1  $31,457  

2 
Corrosion repairs at East Force Main Pipe and Flanged Coupling 
Adapter Harness  $2,438  

  Total Change Order Amount:  $33,895  
 
 
D.W. Nicholson Corporation has completed all punchlist items and the District has assumed 
beneficial use of the Project.  
 
Staff recommends the Board consider a resolution to accept the construction of the Headworks 
Knife Gate Valves 1-3 Replacement Project from D.W. Nicholson Corporation and authorize the 
recordation of a Notice of Completion. 
 
 
PRE/SEG/RC/KC:ks 
 
 
Attachments: Figures 1 and 2 – Site Map 
 Figures 3 through 9 – Photos 
 Resolution 
 Notice of Completion 

76 of 128



Figure 1 – Site Plan of Existing Force Mains Connecting at the Headworks Valve Box 

(E) 42” RS Force 
Main from 
Alvarado Influent 
Pump Station 

See Figure 2 

Twin Force
Mains from 
Offsite Pump 
Stations 

77 of 128



 

Figure 2 – Headworks Building and Headworks Valve Box 

 

Headworks Valve Box 

Twin Force Mains 
from Outlying
Pump Stations 

Force Main 
from Alvarado 
Influent Pump 
Station 

Control Box No. 1 

78 of 128



 

Figure 3 – Exterior view of the Headworks Valve Box with the Headworks Building in the 
background 

 

Figure 4 – Interior view of the Headworks Valve Box with the original knife gate valves and 42” 
force main pipelines  

Motorized Actuators 
(typical 3 locations) 

Headworks 
Valve Box 

Original 
Knife 
Gate 
Valve 

42” Force Main
Pipelines 

79 of 128



 

 

Figure 5 – Interior view of the original knife gate valve bonnets showing corrosion at packing 
glands. 

 

Figure 6 – Interior close-up view of the new knife gate valves  

Original Valve 
Bonnets 

Packing Glands Located 
Below Openings 

New Knife Gate 
Valves Original Knife 

Gate Valve 

80 of 128



 

Figure 7 – New Alvarado Influent Pump Station Knife Gate Valve at Control Box No. 1  

 

Figure 8 – Crane operations to remove one of the existing knife gate valves 

New Knife Gate 
Valve 

81 of 128



 

Figure 9 – Crane operations to install one of the new knife gate valves 

82 of 128



RESOLUTION NO. ____

ACCEPT CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
HEADWORKS KNIFE GATE VALVES 1-3 REPLACEMENT PROJECT  

LOCATED IN THE CITY OF UNION CITY, CALIFORNIA
FROM D.W. NICHOLSON CORPORATION

RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the UNION SANITARY 
DISTRICT that it hereby accepts the Headworks Knife Gate Valves 1-3
Replacement Project from D.W. Nicholson Corporation effective November 13, 
2017.

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Board of Directors of the UNION 
SANITARY DISTRICT authorize the General Manager/District Engineer, or his 
designee, to execute and record a “Notice of Completion” for the Project.

On motion duly made and seconded, this resolution was adopted by the 
following vote on November 13, 2017: 

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

PATE KITE
President, Board of Directors
Union Sanitary District 

Attest:

MANNY FERNANDEZ
Secretary, Board of Directors
Union Sanitary District

83 of 128



RECORDING REQUESTED BY
AND WHEN RECORDED 
RETURN TO:

Regina McEvoy
Union Sanitary District
5072 Benson Road
Union City, CA 94587

NO RECORDING FEE – PER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTIONS 6103 & 27283 (R&T Code 11911)

NOTICE OF COMPLETION

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN by the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, Alameda County, 
California, that the work hereinafter described, the contract for the construction of which was 
entered into on December 14, 2016, by said District and D.W. Nicholson Corporation, 24747
Clawiter Road, Hayward, CA 94545, Contractor for the Project, “Headworks Knife Gate Valves
1-3 Replacement Project”, was substantially completed on September 5, 2017 and accepted
by said District on November 13, 2017.

The name and address of the owner is the UNION SANITARY DISTRICT, at 5072 Benson 
Road, Union City, CA  94587. 

The estate or interest of the owner is: FEE SIMPLE ABSOLUTE

The description of the site where said work was performed and completed is Union Sanitary 
District’s Alvarado Wastewater Treatment Plant, located at 5072 Benson Road, Union City, CA 
94587, County of Alameda, State of California.

The undersigned declares under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on __________________________ at UNION CITY, CALIFORNIA.

________________________
PAUL R. ELDREDGE, P.E.
GENERAL MANAGER/DISTRICT ENGINEER
UNION SANITARY DISTRICT

84 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney

DATE: November 6, 2017 
 
MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 
 
FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 

Sami E. Ghossain, Manager of Technical Services 
Michael Dunning, Environmental Compliance Coach 
Michelle Powell, Communications and Intergovernmental Relations Coordinator 
Doug Dattawalker, Environmental Compliance Inspector II 

 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 11 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
 Review and Provide Direction on USD Video and Virtual Plant Tour  
  
Recommendation 
 
Review quotes for edits to the Virtual Plant Tour video, and provide direction regarding next 
steps. 
 
Background 

Pursuant to previous Board Direction, staff developed a video showcasing USD and the 
treatment plant that is also intended to be used as a virtual tour of the treatment plant.  The 
video was presented at the Board meetings held August 14, 2017 and September 26, 2017.   
The Board directed staff to obtain quotes for adding a FOG (fats, oils, and grease) call to action, 
additional animation showing the stages of treatment throughout the video, and lowering the 
volume of the background music throughout the video.  The quotes are outlined below: 
 

Quote 1: Addition of a FOG call to action with “fatberg” footage $2,775 

Quote 2: Adding animation to show stages of treatment throughout the 
video $1,525 

85 of 128



Quote 3: Reduce background music volume $375 

 
Quote 1 would involve shooting new footage, re-recording voiceover, and reinserting into final 
product. 
 
Quote 2 would include new animation overlaid on an existing aerial or drone live action shot 
and would track the stage of treatment being shown with animated movement to the next 
stage. 
 
Quote 3 would consist of re-syncing the music at a lower volume.  
 

86 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 

Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 

Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney

DATE: November 7, 2017 

MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 

FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
Laurie Brenner, Business Services Coach 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 12 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
Information Item:  Board Expenses for the 1st Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018 

Recommendation 

Information only. 

Background 

Please see attached the Board of Directors Quarterly Travel and Training Expenditure Report 

for the 1st quarter of Fiscal Year 2018.

87 of 128



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
QUARTERLY TRAVEL AND TRAINING EXPENDITURE REPORT

1ST QTR, FISCAL YEAR 2018

Beginning Y-T-D Balance
Board Members Description 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Balance Expense Available

FERNANDEZ, MANNY

TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 5000.00

HANDLEY, TOM
Registration Fee - Annual CASA Conference - San Diego, 
August 22-24, 2017 550.00
Airfare - Annual CASA Conference 149.96
Lodging - Annual CASA Conference 654.30
Mileage - Annual CASA Conference 21.03
Meals - Annual CASA Conference 29.18
Airport Parking - Annual CASA Conference 45.83
Rental Car - Annual CASA Conference 109.02

TOTAL 1,559.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 1,559.32 3440.68

HARRISON, JENNIFER

TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 5000.00

KITE, PAT

TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 5000.00

LATHI, ANJALI
Union City Chamber of Commerce Spirit Awards 
Luncheon 45.00

TOTAL 45.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 45.00 4955.00
GRAND TOTAL 1,604.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 25000.00 1,604.32 23395.68

The Board of Directors' Quarterly Expenditure
Report is attached as part of the check register
in accordance with Board Member Business  
Expense policy adopted September 5, 1991

88 of 128



Directors 
Manny Fernandez 
Tom Handley 
Pat Kite 
Anjali Lathi 
Jennifer Toy 
  
Officers 
Paul R. Eldredge 
General Manager/ 
District Engineer 
  
Karen W. Murphy 
Attorney

DATE: November 1, 2017 
 
MEMO TO: Board of Directors - Union Sanitary District 
 
FROM: Paul R. Eldredge, General Manager/District Engineer 
 Armando Lopez, Manager, Treatment and Disposal Services 
 Tim Grillo, Coach, Research and Support Team 
  
SUBJECT: Agenda Item No. 13 - Meeting of November 13, 2017 
 Information Item:  Annual Report to Union City Fiscal Year 2017 
  
Recommendation 
 
Information only. 
 
Background 
 
Union City Use Permit UP-4-95 requires the District to submit a report annually to the City 
Manager’s Office. The purpose of the report is to:  
 

1. Document the existing wastewater treatment plant flow 
2. Provide a projection of the plant flow for the following year 
3. Review compliance with effluent discharge limits  
4. Provide a status report on progress made in the development of any new treatment 

facilities outside of the Union City limits. 
 
A copy of the District’s annual report to Union City for FY 2017 is attached for review. 

89 of 128



90 of 128



91 of 128



92 of 128



 
 

Summary of the EBDA Commission Meeting 
Thursday, October 19, 2017, at 9:30 a.m. 

Prepared by: P. Eldredge 
 

Commissioners Becker, Cutter, Peixoto, Johnson, and Toy were present. 
 
The Consent Calendar was approved unanimously and included the Commission Meeting 
Minutes, List of Disbursements, and Treasurer’s Report.  

 
The Commission unanimously approved the reports from the Managers Advisory, Financial 
Management, Regulatory Affairs, Operations & Maintenance, and Personnel committees. The 
following items were discussed: 

 
General Managers Report - The General Manager advised the Commission that the Operations 
and Maintenance Committee is seeking approval of two funding resolutions. The General 
Manager then deferred his comments to specific agenda items. 

 
Managers Advisory Committee (MAC) – The MAC discussed the transport system inspection and 
the peracetic acid pilot. The MAC also discussed at length the succession plan for the retiring 
General Manager. 

 
Financial Management Committee met with the General Manager on October 17, 2017, and 
reviewed the September list of disbursements and Treasurer’s Reports. The Committee reviewed 
the fiscal year 2017 final O&M costs for member agencies. Overall, EBDA spending in 2016/17 
was over budget about 1% ($52K), primarily due to an extremely wet weather season and 
bacterial regrowth in the transport system. EBDA’s auditor, Maze and Associates, reviewed 
Statements of Auditing Standards No. 99 and 114 with the Committee. 

 
Regulatory Affairs Committee met with the General Manager on October 17, 2017 and reviewed 
permit compliance. The Committee was updated on the Air Board’s Rule 11-18 and the status of 
the bacterial issues. 

 
Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Committee met with the General Manager on October 16, 
2017. The Committee was updated on the status of the O&M activities at the EBDA facilities. 
Howard Cin reviewed the transport system inspection schedule for the week of October 23.  
 

93 of 128



The Committee recommends adoption of the resolutions authorizing Amendment No. 1 to the 
Pump Repair Service Company agreement in the amount of $35,855 and Amendment No. 4 to 
the Brown & Caldwell agreement for $220,000. 

 
The Personnel Committee met on October 16, 2017 and discussed the post-retirement 
employment of EBDA’s Superintendent of Operations and Maintenance. Staff is also requesting 
the Commission support waiving the 180-day wait period required by CalPERS. The Committee 
discussed the transition strategy for the retiring General Manager and developed some revised 
language for the job posting.  
 
The Commission agreed that due to the time constraints it is prudent to post the General 
Manager opening the week of October 23. Member agency General Manager’s will review the 
proposed job posting and provide comments by Monday, October 23. The job will be posted on 
industry websites including CWEA, CASA, and WEF. Union Sanitary District offered their Human 
Resources services to EBDA staff for the recruitment. 

 
Resolution Authorizing the General Manager To Issue Amendment No. 1 to the Contract With 
Pump Repair Service Company Inc. Dated June 14, 2017, in the Amount of $13,970 for a Total 
Not to Exceed Amount of $35,855 for the Additional Work Necessary to Complete the Overhaul 
of the No. 6 Effluent Pump at the Alvarado Effluent Pump Station  

 
Commissioner Becker introduced a resolution authorizing Amendment No. 1 to the contract with 
Pump Repair Service Company Inc. in the amount of $35,855 for the No. 6 Effluent Pump at AEPS. 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Johnson and carried unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Becker, Cutter, Toy, Johnson, and Chair Peixoto 
Noes:  None 
Absent:  None 
Abstain:  None 
 
Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Issue Amendment No. 4 to the Contract with 
Brown and Caldwell for additional engineering services associated with the transport system 
condition assessment and to contract with the inspection contractors in the amount of 
$220,000 for a total contract not to exceed amount of $510,000  

 
Commissioner Becker introduced the resolution authorizing Amendment No. 4 to the Brown and 
Caldwell agreement in the amount of $220,000 for the transport system inspection. The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Cutter and carried unanimously, 5-0 (Johnson, Cutter, Toy, 
Becker, Peixoto; ayes). 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Cutter, Becker, Toy, Johnson, and Chair Peixoto  
Noes:  None  
Absent:  None  
Abstain:  None 
 

94 of 128



95 of 128



96 of 128



97 of 128



98 of 128



99 of 128



100 of 128



101 of 128



102 of 128



103 of 128



104 of 128



105 of 128



106 of 128



107 of 128



108 of 128



109 of 128



110 of 128



111 of 128



112 of 128



113 of 128



News Feature | October 6, 2017 

New Wastewater Project In California Sports The Latest 
Conservation Tech

By Peter Chawaga, Associate Editor, Water Online

As wastewater treatment operations continue to transition themselves into “resource recovery 
facilities” and become leaders in energy and water conservation, a new project in California has 
emerged.

The City of Rialto’s wastewater treatment plant is now the site of a new technology that could become 
a “must have” for leaders in sustainability.

“Funded through a $1.56 million grant from the California Energy Commission, BDP EnviroTech will 
build and operate in partnership with Veolia a new technology developed by BDP designed to provide 
both substantial improvement in energy and water consumption when compared with traditional 
wastewater treatment technologies,” per a press release on the development. “The demonstration 
project will be operated for 12 months before officials evaluate its success.”

The 200,000-gallon-per-day project should be ready to begin operation in December, when the existing 
treatment tank in Rialto will be converted for the new technology.

“The concept combines two separate processes in the wastewater treatment process in one tank, instead 
of two, which results in economies which include energy and water usage,” according to Eric Li, CEO of 
BDP EnviroTEch, as reported by The Sun. 

114 of 128



This project is one step in a multi-faceted revamp being undertaken in Rialto.

“The demonstration project is coming online at the same time the City of Rialto is undergoing a major 
upgrade of its wastewater treatment plant,” according to the press release. “The repairs and 
improvements are being completed as part of a long-term concession agreement between the City and 
Rialto Water Services… The repairs and upgrades are needed to ensure the plant meets federal water 
quality discharge requirements for decades to come as well as to meet anticipated increases in
treatment capacity.”

To read about similar projects visit Water Online’s Water Reuse Solutions Center.

Image credit: "Rialto Ca.," ProudDigital Media © 2009, used under an Attribution 2.0 Generic 
license: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/
 

115 of 128



 

SF embarking on major projects to bolster sewer system 
By Dominic Fracassa October 21, 2017

San Francisco Sewer serviceman Fred Gonzales works inside the sewer system 
under the 300 block of Ellis Street, which dates to 1866. 

Every year, before autumn gives way to winter in San Francisco, the crews tasked with the 
unrelentingly dirty business of inspecting and maintaining the city’s nearly 1,000 miles of sewer 
pipes set to work. 
 
To help ensure the city’s aged sewer system can withstand the annual deluge of water brought 
on by seasonal rains, crews from the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission descend beneath 
the city’s streets, searching for evidence of damage and defects. 
 
In San Francisco’s Tenderloin district one recent morning, a PUC crew hoisted a manhole cover 
on Ellis Street, opening up a passage into a portion of the city’s sewer system, first built in 1866.  
 

116 of 128



The rounded brick walls of the muggy, 3-foot-high, pitch-black tunnel were thick with sopping-
wet grime. They seemed to breathe in places where clusters of cockroaches huddled together. A 
small stream of sewer water sluiced down a channel running the length of the pipe, carrying all 
manner of soggy debris to a treatment plant, where it is cleaned and sent into the bay. By winter, 
the pipe will be impassible, awash in as much as 12 feet of sewer water. 
 
Unlike any other coastal city in California, San Francisco uses a combined sewer system, 
collecting, transporting and treating both wastewater and rain runoff with the same set of pipes. 
Using combined systems was common practice for urban sewers built before the turn of the 20th 
century, said PUC General Manager Harlan Kelly Jr., when wastewater and rainfall both were 
typically dumped into nearby bodies of water. 
 
For all its grubby duties, in recent years San Francisco’s sewer system has become the vanguard 
of the city’s efforts to mitigate the effects of climate change over the next 80 years.  The PUC is 
in the midst of a huge, decades-long overhaul of the infrastructure that makes up the city’s sewer 
system, an upgrade city officials hope will prevent catastrophic flooding for generations to come. 
 
Chief among the utility agency’s long-term goals for the $6.9 billion project are improving San 
Francisco’s ability to cope with sea-level rise and withstand the growing number of increasingly 
intense rainstorms meteorologists anticipate will buffet much of the country in coming years. 
The recent hurricanes that devastated Texas, Florida and Puerto Rico this year serve as stark 
reminders of the kind of climate events San Francisco needs to prepare itself for, Kelly said. 
 
“Everything we’re looking at is with an eye to climate change,” he said. “You can’t fight Mother 
Nature. You have to adapt.” 
 
The city treats an average of 60 million gallons of water on dry days and 575 million gallons a day 
when it rains, said Karen Kubick, the PUC’s program director for the sewer improvement 
initiative. But because the city’s sewers capture rainwater and wastewater together, they can 
more easily be overwhelmed in times of sustained, heavy rainfall. 
 
There is already a persistent risk, Kubick said, that the city’s water-management system could be 
swamped by a combination of heavy storms and king tides, when sea levels rise 12 inches higher 
than normal. 
 
“If sea levels rise as anticipated, and we were to have a king tide, and a major storm walloped us, 
our system could be overwhelmed,” Kubick said. “Our system wasn’t designed to handle these 
types of extreme events.” 
 
The PUC’s improvement program will be rolled out in phases through 2032. The improvements 
themselves — everything from replacing outdated sewer pipes to raising critical electrical 
systems in treatment plants in anticipation of the higher sea waters — are designed to respond 
to how San Francisco’s climate could look in the year 2100.  
 

117 of 128



 
Sewer serviceman Fred Gonzales gets set to enter the sewer system under the 
300 block of Ellis Street in San Francisco. 
 
Given current conditions, by that time, climate models predict, ocean levels could have risen 
between 36 and 66 inches, Kubick said. 
 
“With a long-term view on planning, things will work out a whole lot better because you’re not 
making decisions in a crisis,” said Richard Luthy, a professor of civil and environmental 
engineering at Stanford. 
 
But as the sea rises and as storms may dump more and more water on the city, San Francisco is 
already contending with an urgent need to improve the ways it rids itself of storm water. 
 
“If we do end up with larger or more intense storms, that’s going to make it harder for the PUC 
to manage all of that water coming into the system,” said David Sedlak, a UC Berkeley civil and 
environmental engineering professor and co-director of the Berkeley Water Center. 
 
Through 2032, the PUC intends to spend $444 million on a variety of projects to manage storm 
water throughout the city, including installing rain gardens designed to capture rainfall and divert 
it into the ground, keeping it from flowing into the sewer system. 
 

118 of 128



 
Workers make their way to the sewer system below the 300 block of Ellis Street. 
 
The PUC also expects to break ground next year on the two single-largest sewer improvement 
projects. Both are tied to the city’s Southeast Treatment Plant, the 65-year-old workhorse of     
San Francisco’s sewer system in the Bayview-Hunters Point area, treating about 80 percent of 
the city’s sewage. 
 
In January, the PUC is planning to start construction on a new, $359 million “headworks” facility 
— where the sewage treatment process begins. According to the PUC, the current headworks 
facility can’t adequately filter the debris and sand out of the sewer water passing through it, and 
it’s having trouble controlling odors. Next summer, the PUC will also begin construction on a new, 
$1.27 billion facility for treating solid waste. 
 
To help pay for the sewer-system upgrades, the PUC has sought low-interest loans from federal 
and state sources, but ratepayers will foot the bill for the bulk of the projects’ expense. Chris 

119 of 128



Colwick, a PUC spokesman, said that the sewer-improvement program will represent a large 
portion of the agency’s request to raise utility rates next year. 
 
“We are currently assessing the needs and cost of this much-needed upgrade, which will be a key 
part of our proposed rates package that will become effective, after a thorough public review 
process, on July 1, 2018,” Colwick said in an email. 
 
But the long-term benefits of upgrading and modernizing the city’s sewer infrastructure will 
vastly outweigh the costs, Sedlak said. “We already have programs to slowly replace pipes as they 
wear out so we don’t get leaks. But the kinds of capital improvement projects like what                   
San Francisco is doing come along once in a generation. 
 
“With climate change, it would be foolish to build what we built in the middle of the 20th 
century.” 
 
Dominic Fracassa is a San Francisco Chronicle staff writer.  
Email:  dfracassa@sfchronicle.com 
Twitter: @dominicfracassa 

120 of 128



 

Sausalito sewage plant upgrade underway

Jeffrey Kingston, right, general manager of the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District, and 
district engineer Kevin Rahman check on a new retention tank last month at the treatment plant. 
(James Cacciatore/Special to the Marin Independent Journal) 

By Mark Prado, Marin Independent Journal  

Posted: 10/23/17, 4:07 PM PDT  

A $28 million project at a sewage plant at Fort Baker will help improve the quality of treated water 
it sends into San Francisco Bay, a benefit to the environment, backers say. 

The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District’s plant is just south of Sausalito at Fort Baker. It’s a 
picturesque, if malodorous, site on a slope overhanging the bay on 7 acres leased from the National 
Park Service. The agency serves about 18,000 people in Southern Marin, primarily in Sausalito, 
the Tam Valley and National Park Service areas.

121 of 128



After inspections in late 2007, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency in 2008 ordered several
Southern Marin sewage agencies to fix chronic problems including spills, sewer maintenance and 
a network of aging pipes. Now that work is occurring. 

“This will result in better water quality and that’s good for the bay, good for the environment and 
it’s the right thing to do,” said Jeffrey Kingston, general manager of the agency. 

The expansion project will upgrade the wastewater treatment plant, improve the quality of water 
discharges while improving the district’s ability to prevent sewage spills into the bay.  

“Generally speaking, we want to avoid stormwater sewer overflows,” said Bill Johnson, the state 
Regional Water Board’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System program manager. 
“One of the problems some plants have during wet weather is a lack of capacity to treat all its 
flow.” 

The work at the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District will help it hold more water and have it 
treated to a higher standard before it is sent into the bay. 

Specifically, that will be done by constructing a headworks — an initial filter to remove grit and 
other debris — and upgrading water quality to a tertiary standard before it is released. Presently, 
the district’s plant only treats water to a secondary treatment, a step down from the tertiary 
standard. Treatment towers and pumps will be refurbished, which will regulate flow storage and 
minimize peak flow rates and spills.

“It’s an upgrade that will increase capacity from 6 million to 9 million gallons a day,” Kingston 
said. “This is all part of a reliability upgrade.” 

The upgrade was ordered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency in 2008 in the wake of 
spills among several agencies in Southern Marin to address chronic sewage spills, improve sewer 
maintenance and implement long-term programs to renew aging sewer pipes.  

Deteriorated conditions of the sewer systems became evident when heavy rains overwhelmed the 
systems, causing over 5 million gallons of sewage to flow into Richardson Bay and San Francisco 
Bay that year.

In addition to the Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District, the orders were issued to Sewerage 
Agency of Southern Marin, Almonte Sanitary District, Alto Sanitary District, the city of Mill 
Valley, Homestead Valley Sanitary District, Richardson Bay Sanitary District, the city of Sausalito 
and Tamalpais Community Services District.

The EPA is assessing the plans and reports submitted by the nine agencies. The process will 
include a review of each agency’s annual report, which was due Oct. 15. Through this regular 
review process, EPA determines whether each system is in full compliance and if the orders can 
be terminated. The agency is expected to complete the review by Dec. 31, officials at the EPA 
said.

122 of 128



The Sausalito-Marin City Sanitary District’s project is anticipated to be completed by June 2019.
The project’s general contractor is Colorado-based Flatiron West Inc.

The work is being financed with a $35 million bond that is being paid for by a sewer charge that 
averages about $850 annually per household. In 2009 those fees in Sausalito were as low as $215 
annually. But the EPA order forced increases. 

“It’s a great project,” said Marin Supervisor Kate Sears. “Water quality in the bay is so important.”

About the Author

Reach the author at mprado@marinij.com or follow Mark on Twitter: @MarkPradoIJ. 

 

123 of 128



 

City considers financing $900M sewer project 
San Mateo discuses Clean Water Program and rate hikes for 
capital improvement program 
By Samantha Weigel, Daily Journal staff   
October 24, 2017 
 
Drumming up ways to finance a $900 million infrastructure program is no small task for a 
municipality and San Mateo is in the midst of deciding how residents should contribute toward 
the Clean Water Program. 

The city is upgrading its sewer system with an overhaul of its wastewater treatment plant and 
improvements to its conveyance system. Residents already faced a 36 percent sewer rate hike 
this year and, in an effort to avoid needing such high increases again, the City Council may be 
willing to tweak its traditional financing model if it softens the blow to consumers.  
 
Officials were initially hopeful low-interest state revolving loans would be the primary source of 
much-needed capital for the project. But steep competition for funding is prompting the city to 
consider traditional, and more costly, financing options.  
 
The City Council met last week to discuss changes to sewer rates and financing options for the 
multi-million dollar capital improvement program. The city plans to apply for about $700 million 
in the state revolving loan funds but, with no guarantees, officials must consider alternate means, 
said Cathi Zammit, senior engineer and manager of the Clean Water Program. 
 
“The state revolving loan fund program has a very high demand and the demand for funding has 
far exceeded their supply of funding available. So we are challenged with competing with other 
agencies for these funds,” Zammit said. “In order to take a proactive approach on the financing, 
we don’t want to depend on the state revolving loan funds.” 
 
San Mateo officials say they can’t afford to postpone the Clean Water Program improvements. 
The city is under a cease and desist order it prohibit untreated sewage from leaking into the Bay 
— which is known to occur during intense storms.  
 
“This is to meet our regulatory requirements and replace the aging infrastructure we have,” said 
Public Works Director Brad Underwood. “Those are the key points we’ve got to keep pushing 
forward to get these projects completed.” 
 

124 of 128



San Mateo clearly isn’t alone in its plans to upgrade decades-old infrastructure as other 
municipalities are also seeking these lower-cost state revolving loan funds. 
 
“It’s the state of infrastructure throughout the state,” Underwood said. 
 
State loans could save millions of dollars in interest and the city has already submitted two 
applications with it anticipating to ask for more. In the meantime, staff is evaluating traditional 
bonds to keep the project afloat. 
 
Typically, the city uses an encumbrance model to bond for the full amount of the project at once, 
which in the case of the Clean Water Program is predicted to result in higher rate increases over 
a shorter period of time. Another option the council is leaning toward is a “cash-flow” model. 
This would involve issuing bonds periodically to cover the annual cost of improvements, which 
would lead to lower rate increases but over a longer period of time, according to a staff report. 
 
Because the city would have more of its funding tied up at once with an encumbrance model, it’s 
predicted to mean San Mateo could miss out on $45 million it could have otherwise earned 
through investments, according to the city. 
 
Whatever financing options the city chooses, the loans will ultimately be paid off by users of the 
system through sewer rates. 
 
Effects on ratepayers 
 
As part of last week’s study session, the council considered altering how it charges customers. 
 
The change was prompted by the five-year drought as water conservation ultimately marked a 
setback to the city’s anticipated sewer fund revenue. That’s because the current rate structure is 
based entirely on usage, meaning water consumption is directly tied to sewage treatment. The 
reduction prompted the city to hike sewer rates 36 percent in an effort to make up for the 
shortfall. 
 
Last week, the council opted for a hybrid system that includes a fixed fee and a volumetric-based 
rate. Incorporating a flat charge isn’t expected to affect what the average customer pays. 
However, that model may end up reducing what those who use a lot of water pay while increasing 
rates for more conservation-conscious customers, according to the city.   
 
Underwood said including a fixed-rate component is appropriate because all customers rely on 
the infrastructure, regardless of how much wastewater an individual generates. 
 
“The sewer system is not about water conservation. We have to have a system in place no matter 
how much water people utilize,” Underwood said. 
 

125 of 128



In striving to balance needs with costs, the council may also set sewer rates for multiple years at 
a time. 
 
The five-year rate structure would be regularly re-evaluated annually to determine if any 
adjustments are needed to cover costs. 
 
The cash-flow model would entail the city awarding construction contracts without full funding 
in place. The initial predicted rate increases would be 14 percent hikes the first two years starting 
2019, followed by 13 percent the next two years, and 12 percent increases the follow three years, 
according to a city report. One risk in issuing bonds annually is that interest rates could fluctuate 
resulting in unknown costs.  
 
An encumbrance model has the city securing funding for the entire cost of the project upfront 
before awarding construction contracts. The projected rate increases would be 32 percent for 
the first two years starting 2019, followed by five years of 7 percent increases, according to the 
city. 
 
Both options target a 4 percent increase in 2026. 
 
For the average household, a hybrid model of a fixed component and volumetric-based rate 
would translate to their current $61.55 monthly bill increasing to about $61.93 in 2019 and up to 
$119.50 five years later, according to the city. 
 
But there’s still more discussion and public hearings to be had before any changes could go into 
effect. Staff is expected to return with a rate proposal early next year, followed by public hearings 
in the spring. If approved, the new rates would go into effect July 2018, Zammit said. 
 
“The council prefers to use the cash-flow approach for bonding because it helps to spread out 
revenue increases over a longer period of time,” Zammit said. “We are trying to balance all of 
these factors as we move forward with the financing.”  
 
Construction on the Clean Water Program is expected to ramp up in the coming years with an 
overhaul of the treatment plant on Detroit Drive in San Mateo before the program culminates 
around 2026. The $900 million program includes improvements to the conveyance system, an 
underground storage basin to temporarily hold wastewater during extreme storms and 
capabilities to recycle water at the plant. 
 
Visit cleanwaterprogramsanmateo.org for more information. 
 
samantha@smdailyjournal.com 
(650) 344-5200 ext. 106 Twitter: samantha_weigel 

126 of 128



Fairfield

Plan to treat sludge from Palo Alto at 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District site 
advances
By Ryan McCarthy | October 25, 2017 

FAIRFIELD — Trucking sludge from Palo Alto for treatment on property of the 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District advanced Monday with directors for the sewer district 
approving a letter that makes the district a partner in a proposal to Palo Alto for the 
work. 

Palo Alto plans to decommission incinerators for its sludge and seeks a five-year 
solution for processing the material starting next fiscal year, said a staff report to 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District directors.

Lystek International Limited Organic Material Recovery Center operates a site on the 
sewer district property in Fairfield and the sewer district has digestion capacity that 
could be made available to preprocess the sludge, the report said.

Lystek has asked the district to be part of Lystek’s proposal to Palo Alto, the staff report 
said.

Approval by directors followed a staff review that noted Palo Alto now burns its sludge 
to ash but increased air quality regulations complicate that activity.

Benefits for the sewer district in working with Lystek include increased methane 
production, which will reduce operating costs by reducing or eliminating the purchase of 
natural gas to fuel cogeneration engines and make electricity, the staff report said.

127 of 128



The proposal would also advance the partnership between Lystek and the sewer district 
as an organic waste service provider for the Bay Area, bringing in additional revenue 
from outside the district, according to the report.

Potential problems include more materials to process, more operating costs and the 
greater risk of failing digesters, the report said.

Up to 25,000 tons a year would be hauled from Palo Alto to Fairfield for treatment if 
Lystek’s proposal is accepted.

That would about double what the sewer district now processes, directors were told.

 

128 of 128




